



Yamauchi, Y. (2020). Influenza A virus uncoating. In T. Mettenleiter, M. Kielian, & M. Roossinck (Eds.), *Advances in Virus Research* (1st ed., Vol. 106). (Advances in Virus Research).
<https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.aivir.2020.01.001>

Peer reviewed version

License (if available):
CC BY-NC-ND

Link to published version (if available):
[10.1016/bs.aivir.2020.01.001](https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.aivir.2020.01.001)

[Link to publication record in Explore Bristol Research](#)
PDF-document

This is the author accepted manuscript (AAM). The final published version (version of record) is available online via Elsevier at <https://www.elsevier.com/books/advances-in-virus-research/mettenleiter/978-0-12-820754-3>. Please refer to any applicable terms of use of the publisher.

University of Bristol - Explore Bristol Research

General rights

This document is made available in accordance with publisher policies. Please cite only the published version using the reference above. Full terms of use are available:
<http://www.bristol.ac.uk/red/research-policy/pure/user-guides/ebr-terms/>

1 Running title: Influenza A Virus Uncoating

2 **Title: Influenza A Virus Uncoating**

3 Yohei Yamauchi

4 School of Cellular & Molecular Medicine, University of Bristol, Biomedical Sciences Building,

5 University Walk, Bristol, BS8 1TD, UK

6

7 Tel: +44 (0)117 33 12067

8 Email: yohei.yamauchi@bristol.ac.uk

9

10 **Key Words:** Influenza A virus, virus uncoating, cellular condensates, stress granule, aggresome,

11 phase separation, disaggregation, ubiquitin, HDAC6, Karyopherin- β 2

12

13 **Abstract** (max 250)

14

15 Influenza A virus (IAV) is an enveloped virus of the *Orthomyxoviridae* with a negative-sense
16 single-stranded RNA genome. During virus cell entry, viral and cellular cues are delivered in a
17 stepwise manner within two distinct cellular compartments – the endosomes and the cytosol.

18 Endosome maturation primes the viral core for uncoating by cytosolic host proteins and host-
19 mediated virus disaggregation is essential for genome import and replication in the nucleus.

20 Recent evidence shows that two well-known cellular proteins - histone deacetylase 6 (HDAC6)

21 and karyopherin- β 2 (~~k~~Kap β 2) - uncoat influenza virus. HDAC6 is one of eleven HDACs and

22 an X-linked, cytosolic lysine deacetylase. Under normal cellular conditions HDAC6 is the tubulin

23 deacetylase. Under proteasomal stress HDAC6 binds unanchored ubiquitin, dynein and myosin II

24 to sequester misfolded protein aggregates for autophagy. Kap β ~~β~~ 2 is a member of the importin β
25 ~~β~~ family that transports RNA-binding proteins into the nucleus by binding to disordered nuclear
26 localization signals (NLSs) known as PY-NLS. Kap β ~~β~~ 2 is emerging as a universal uncoating factor
27 for IAV and human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1). Kap β 2 can also reverse liquid-
28 liquid phase separation (LLPS) of RNA-binding proteins by promoting their disaggregation. Thus,
29 it is becoming evident that key players in the management of cellular condensates and
30 membraneless organelles are potent virus uncoating factors. This emerging concept reveals
31 implications in viral pathogenesis, as well as, the promise for cell-targeted therapeutic strategies
32 to block universal virus uncoating pathways hijacked by enveloped RNA viruses.

33

34 **Fundamentals of IAV entry**

35

36 Influenza virus is an enveloped virus with a negative-sense single-stranded RNA genome. As
37 shown in Figure 1, two viral glycoproteins decorate the viral membrane surface; the fusion
38 protein and receptor-binding hemagglutinin (HA) and neuraminidase (NA). Inside the viral
39 membrane is the viral capsid made of matrix protein (M1), inside which the eight segments of
40 viral ribonucleoproteins (vRNPs) are encapsidated. Each RNP contains the RNA genome, and the
41 viral polymerase. IAV undergoes a series of stepwise uncoating events during cell entry as the
42 virus particle is assisted by facilitators and a complex set of temporally and spatially regulated
43 cellular cues (Yamauchi and Greber, 2016). Entry begins with multivalent attachment of the viral
44 HA to sialic acid containing cell surface receptors (Skehel and Wiley, 2000). The half-life of HA-
45 sialic acid binding is 0.8–5.5 sec (Sieben et al., 2012), whereas that of IAV internalisation is 10–15
46 min (Matlin et al., 1981). Thus, multivalent binding of HA to sialic acid-containing molecules

47 such as epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) is necessary to trigger signalling and uptake of
48 the viral particle into early endosomes via receptor-mediated endocytosis (Eierhoff et al., 2010).
49 More recently it was shown that IAV infection activates G coupled protein receptor kinase 2
50 (GRK2) which promotes downstream viral uncoating (Yanguéz et al., 2018).

51

52 Single-molecule experiments have shown that the cellular plasma membrane is partitioned into
53 50-300 nm wide domains by the combined action of actin-based membrane cytoskeleton “fences”
54 and anchored-transmembrane protein “pickets” (Kusumi and Sako, 1996). On the cell surface,
55 organization and interaction of proteins and lipids have been proposed to occur on different time
56 and length scales, from direct molecular interactions to transient association within nanoscopic
57 domains. Lipid raft microdomains are critical for entry and budding of enveloped viruses and
58 assumed to function as selective concentration devices for viruses and proteins and to serve as
59 platforms for signal transduction for endocytosis (K. Simons, D. Toomre, 2000). Blocking one
60 endocytic pathway is typically insufficient to reduce IAV infection, and the virus is capable of
61 eliciting two or more endocytic pathways. The endocytic pathway may depend on the cell
62 membrane context such as abundance of receptor tyrosine kinases (RTKs) and facileness to induce
63 lipid raft clustering upon multivalent HA binding to receptor(s) (Grecco et al., 2011, Eierhoff et
64 al., 2010). Clathrin-coated pits are 120-150 nm in diameter in human epithelial cells (Bretscher et
65 al., 1980). Most IAV entry experiments have been conducted using lab adapted, pleomorphic,
66 spherical virions with a diameter ranging from about 80-120 nm (Noda, 2011). Filamentous
67 influenza virions, which are 100 nm x 20 µm in size, are thought to predominantly trigger
68 macropinocytic uptake in cell culture (Rossman and Lamb, 2011).

69

70 Following binding, a signalling circuit involving Rho kinase and phosphatidylinositol 4-
71 phosphate 5-kinase (PIP5K)-phospholipase C (PLC) which is regulated by intracellular Ca^{2+}
72 regulates the clathrin-dependent and -independent uptake of IAV (Fujioka et al., 2013). A
73 sialylated voltage-dependent Ca^{2+} channel (Cav1.2) acts as a functional receptor by binding to IAV
74 PR8 HA (Fujioka et al., 2018). In Lec2 Chinese hamster ovary (CHO) cells that are deficient for
75 sialic acids, infection is impaired but attachment and entry recovered when Ca^{2+} -dependent (C-
76 type) lectins that bind carbohydrate structures on viral glycoproteins [i.e. dendritic cell-specific
77 intercellular adhesion molecule-3-grabbing non-integrin (DC-SIGN) and liver/lymph node-
78 specific intercellular adhesion molecule-3-grabbing integrin (L-SIGN)] were expressed (Londrigan
79 et al., 2011). IAV does not efficiently infect Lec1 CHO cells deficient for N-acetylglucosaminyl
80 transferase 1 (GnT1) indicating that the virus requires N-linked glycoprotein for entry (Chu and
81 Whittaker, 2004). Using African green monkey kidney BSC-1 cells it was shown that 65% of
82 influenza virus uptake is clathrin-dependent (Rust et al., 2004), and that the non-clathrin
83 pathway is macropinocytosis-like and serum-inducible (de Vries et al., 2011). Epsin 1 is a cargo-
84 specific adaptor for IAV, and a clathrin-, ubiquitin-, and phospholipid-interacting protein. Its
85 depletion specifically blocks clathrin-mediated IAV uptake, however, the resulting infectivity
86 remains the same because IAV particles can divert to a non-clathrin pathway (Chen and Zhuang,
87 2008). Thus, it is clear that IAV can alternate between clathrin and non-clathrin
88 pathways.[MCK1][YY2]

89 In GnT1-deficient CHO cells, virus macropinocytic uptake was blocked whereas dynamin-
90 dependent uptake was not (de Vries et al., 2012). Serum can induce dynamin-independent
91 micropinocytosis-like uptake (de Vries et al., 2011). At the same time,— serum contains high
92 levels of sialic acids and can act as decoy receptors that compete with virus binding to the cell
93 surface.[MCK3] Such competitive binding can be neutralised by NA activity - a mechanism thought

94 to be relevant for *in vivo* infections along the mucus-rich airway epithelium (Matrosovich et al.,
95 2004). ~~Using African green monkey kidney BSC-1 cells it was shown that 65% of influenza virus~~
96 ~~uptake is clathrin dependent (Rust et al., 2004), and that the non-clathrin pathway is~~
97 ~~macropinocytosis like and serum inducible (de Vries et al., 2011). Epsin 1 is a cargo specific~~
98 ~~adaptor for IAV, and a clathrin-, ubiquitin-, and phospholipid-interacting protein. Its depletion~~
99 ~~specifically blocks clathrin-mediated IAV uptake, however, the resulting infectivity remains the~~
100 ~~same because IAV particles can divert to a non-clathrin pathway (Chen and Zhuang, 2008). Thus,~~
101 ~~it is clear that IAV can alternate between clathrin and non-clathrin pathways.~~ [MCK4]

102

103 Following endocytosis, IAV resides in a vesicle that undergoes three stages of motility
104 accompanied by a maturation process that leads to late endosome (LE) and multivesicular body
105 formation (Huotari and Helenius, 2011). Stage I is an actin-dependent movement in the cell
106 periphery; stage II is a rapid directed motion towards the nucleus; stage III is a bi-directional,
107 microtubule-dependent type of movement (Lakadamyali et al., 2003). Microtubules are important
108 for influenza entry and infection is halved upon their depolymerisation by nocodazole (Yamauchi
109 et al., 2011, Lozach et al., 2010).

110

111 [insert Figure 1 here, in color]

112

113

114

115 **Multistep IAV uncoating in endosomes**

116

117 Viral uncoating is promoted by cellular cues, facilitators, and built-in mechanisms for uncoating
118 (Yamauchi and Greber, 2016). Cellular cues come in many shapes and forms; from cell surface
119 receptors to enzymes, scaffolds and chemicals that exist extracellularly or in endocytic vesicles, or
120 in the cytosol. ~~Enveloped~~ Many enveloped and non-enveloped viruses including influenza, Ebola,
121 Lassa, Rhino and Adeno link their uncoating program to the endocytic machinery (Staring et al.,
122 2018, Yamauchi and Helenius, 2013, Yamauchi and Greber, 2016). Furthermore, the endocytosis
123 machinery provides an environment for IAV that allows separation of uncoating and assembly.
124 The inner shell of the IAV virion is represented by a membrane-associated scaffold of matrix
125 proteins, M1, that makes contacts with both vRNPs and ~~the lipid envelope with~~ the cytoplasmic
126 tails of HA and NA in the lipid envelope-(Lamb and Choppin, 1983). In endosomes, IAV takes
127 advantage of cues such as cathepsin cleavage, low pH and high K⁺ to promote viral fusion and
128 uncoating (Stauffer et al., 2014, Edinger et al., 2015, Martin and Helenius, 1991). The NA of IAV
129 H5N1 was shown to affect LAMP2 glycosylation at low pH, thereby potentially destabilizing the
130 lysosomal glycocalyx and promoting endosomal escape (Ju et al., 2015).

131

132 Uncoating can be split into two steps: priming within the endosomal compartment, then
133 uncoating by host factors on the cytosolic surface or in thw close vicinity of LEs. During
134 endocytic transit of incoming IAV particles, the M2 ion channel opens and the influx of protons
135 and K⁺ ions affects M1 conformation, which subsequently dissociates interactions between HA C-
136 terminus ~~and~~ M1, M1-M1 and M1-vRNPs, resulting in reduced viral particle rigidity (Stauffer et
137 al., 2014, Li et al., 2014, Martin and Helenius, 1991). Once the endosomes reach an acidic
138 environment of pH<6.0, M1 oligomers dissociate irreversibly into dimers resulting in a softening
139 of the viral particle (Li et al., 2014, Zhang et al., 2012). This *priming* step is dependent on ~~the a~~
140 functional M2 channel and is completely stalled by the M2 blocker amantadine. Thus, priming in

141 endosomes is an essential step in the IAV life cycle that instigates the full infectious capacity of
142 the IAV particle (Fig. 1).

143

144 Many enveloped viruses use an acid-activated fusion mechanism to create a fusion pore at the
145 endosomal membrane and gain cytosolic access. Fusion is mediated by specialised transmembrane
146 proteins on the viral envelope (Harrison, 2008). At a low pH ($\cong 5.0-5.5$) IAV HA undergoes
147 conformational changes that brings viral and endosomal membranes in extreme proximity,
148 triggering membrane fusion and generating ~~micropits that transform into~~ narrow connections
149 that eventually form a fusion pore (Kanaseki et al., 1997, Lee, 2010, Chlanda et al., 2016).

150 However, IAV fusion is not sufficient for M1 uncoating and for vRNPs to enter the nucleus
151 (Martin and Helenius, 1991). Viral fusion can be effectively performed at the plasma membrane if
152 the low pH trigger is supplied to virus bound on the cell surface (Stauffer et al., 2014, Helenius et
153 al., 1980, White et al., 1981, Kielian, 2014). Experiments have shown that in the case of IAV,
154 acid-triggered fusion alone is very inefficient in releasing the genome and that stepwise uncoating
155 signals must be provided to make the viral core (M1 and vRNPs) uncoating-competent. Infectivity
156 can be restored, by mimicking endocytic transit by pre-acidification of IAV particles in vitro
157 (Stauffer et al., 2014). Furthermore, the high K^+ concentration ($\cong 120$ mM) in LEs increases
158 solubility of the vRNP bundle (Stauffer et al., 2014). The tetraspanin CD81, a top hit from
159 multiple siRNA screens, was shown to be required for IAV fusion and endosomal escape (He et al.,
160 2013). Here, incoming IAV particles fused in CD81-positive endosomes, and CD81 depletion
161 blocked viral entry (He et al., 2013).[MCK5][YY6] CD81 associates with tetraspanins and other
162 tetraspanin-interacting proteins to form tetraspanin-enriched microdomains on cellular
163 membranes (Hemler, 2005), and is also incorporated into budding virions (He et al., 2013). Such

164 micodomains may contribute to viral fusion at LEs, however, the precise mechanism of how the
165 presence of CD81 promotes viral fusion is unclear.

166

167 IAV fusion and cytosolic uncoating

168

169 RNAi and proteomic screening approaches have identified cellular proteins required for IAV
170 fusion and uncoating (Yamauchi et al., 2011, Huotari et al., 2012, Gschweidl et al., 2016, Konig et
171 al., 2010, Edinger et al., 2015, Pohl et al., 2014, Konig and Stertz, 2015, Edinger et al., 2014,
172 Yanguéz et al., 2018, Su et al., 2013, Banerjee et al., 2013, Miyake et al., 2019a, He et al., 2013).
173 These are histone deacetylase 6 (HDAC6) (Banerjee et al., 2014), the nuclear import factor
174 karyopherin- β 2 ($\text{k}\text{Kap}\beta$ 2) (Miyake et al., 2019a), SPOPL/Cullin 3 (Gschweidl et al., 2016), ITCH
175 (Su et al., 2013), EGFR substrate protein 8 (EPS8) (Larson et al., 2019), GRK2 (Yanguéz et al.,
176 2018) and LY6E (Mar et al., 2018). [The](#) E3 ubiquitin ligase ITCH localises to LEs and ubiquitinates
177 viral M1 to promote uncoating (Su et al., 2013). LY6E, a member of the LY6/uPAR family, is an
178 interferon-stimulated gene (ISG) that enhances viral entry at the uncoating step (Mar et al., 2018).
179 GRK2 is activated by IAV and was identified from phosphoproteomic-based kinase profiling of
180 IAV infected cells. GRK2 is required for efficient IAV uncoating but its cellular target is unclear
181 (Yanguéz et al., 2018). EPS8 physically associated with incoming IAV viral cores and its depletion
182 reduced uncoating (Larson et al., 2019). Eps15 is a ubiquitination target of CRL3^{SPOPL} E3 ubiquitin
183 ligase complex required for IAV uncoating and regulates intraluminal vesicle formation during
184 endosome maturation (Gschweidl et al., 2016). Likewise cullin 3 depletion interferes with
185 endosome maturation and as a consequence IAV uncoating is blocked (Huotari and Helenius,
186 2011). Cytosolic IAV uncoating uses the aggresome processing pathway and HDAC6 for M1 shell
187 breakage (**Fig. 2**), and $\text{k}\text{Kap}\beta$ 2 for removal of residual M1 from the surface of vRNPs, which leads

188 to vRNP debundling and nuclear import (Banerjee et al., 2014, Kawaguchi et al., 2003, Hao et al.,
189 2013, Miyake et al., 2019a).

190

191 After replication in the nucleus, progeny vRNPs are exported to the cytoplasm. This requires the
192 assembly of a nuclear export complex consisting of the vRNP, M1 protein, and the viral nuclear
193 export protein (NEP),^[MCK7] which contains two nuclear export signals (NESs), in mediating the
194 association of exportin1/XPO1/CRM1 with vRNPs in a so-called daisy chain arrangement (Akarsu
195 et al., 2003, Huang et al., 2013, Neumann et al., 2000, O'Neill et al., 1998, Paterson and Fodor,
196 2012).

197

198 Could it be that incoming IAV cores retain the characteristics of membraneless liquid
199 organelles?^{[MCK8][YY9]} Recently, it was shown that during IAV replication viral inclusions display
200 characteristics of liquid organelles (**Fig. 1**) (Alenquer et al., 2019). Using Fluorescence Recovery
201 After Photobleaching (FRAP), viral inclusions formed by either PA-GFP or GFP-NP dynamically
202 exchanged material with the exterior in a manner consistent with nucleoli and stress granules
203 (SGs) ^{[MCK10][YY11]} (Nikolic et al., 2016). These inclusions develop close to endoplasmic reticulum
204 exit sites, segregate vRNPs from the cytosol and are thought to promote RNA-RNA interactions.
205 Rab11, a marker for recycling endosomes, also plays a critical role in vRNP egress towards the
206 plasma membrane (de Castro Martin et al., 2017, Einfeld et al., 2011, Amorim et al., 2011).

207 Biogenesis of IAV liquid inclusions enriched in vRNPs and Rab11 is dependent on continuous
208 cycles of material between the ER and the Golgi, indicating that their distribution is spatially
209 regulated (Alenquer et al., 2019). Could it be that incoming IAV cores retain the characteristics of

210 membraneless liquid organelles?^[MCK12]

211

212 [insert Figure 2 here]

213

214 Histone deacetylases (HDACs) in IAV entry: what sets HDAC6 apart from other HDACs

215

216 Acetylation on lysine residues of histone and other proteins has been recognised as a major post-

217 translational modification that affects multiple aspects of protein function. Protein acetylation is

218 regulated by the balance of enzymes with opposing activities: histone acetyltransferases (HATs)

219 and histone deacetylases (HDACs) (Yang and Seto, 2008). HDACs are enzymes that catalyze the

220 removal of acetyl groups from lysine residues located on histone and non-histone proteins. As

221 shown in Figure 3, HDACs have 18 isoforms that use either Zn²⁺- or nicotinamide

222 adenine dinucleotide (NAD)⁺-dependent mechanisms to deacetylate lysine substrates; the former

223 11 enzymes are of the histone deacetylase family, the latter 7 enzymes are of the silent

224 information regulator 2 (Sir2) family (Seto and Yoshida, 2014). ~~and HDACs~~ can be categorised

225 into four classes: class I HDACs are 400-500 amino acids long, and include HDAC1, HDAC2,

226 HDAC3 and HDAC8. Class II HDACs are ~1000 amino acids long; class IIa comprises HDAC4,

227 HDAC5, HDAC7 and HDAC9, and class IIb comprises HDAC6 and HDAC10 (Valenzuela-

228 Fernandez et al., 2008). Class III comprises the Sir2-like deacetylases Silent Information Regulator

229 (SIRT1)-SIRT7, ranging in size from 310-757 amino acids (Marks et al., 2003), while Class IV

230 (HDAC11) HDACs ~~are is a Zn²⁺-dependent~~ metalloproteases (Gregoretto et al., 2004, Haigis and

231 Guarente, 2006) (Fig. 3[MCK15][YY16]).

232

233 [insert Figure 3 here]

234

235 Class I HDACs influence IAV infection in complex ways: a pan class I HDAC inhibitor increases
236 IAV infectivity; HDAC1 and 2 are antiviral whereas HDAC3 and 8 are pro-viral (Yamauchi et al.,
237 2011). HDAC8 depletion induced centrosome splitting, an aberrant microtubule network and
238 scattered LEs, impacting IAV entry and infection (Yamauchi et al., 2011). HDAC6, ~~an~~ a critical
239 IAV uncoating factor, is mostly cytoplasmic with unique characteristics that distinguish it from
240 the other HDACs: tandem catalytic domains with tubulin deacetylation activity and the presence
241 of a zinc finger domain ~~with that has~~ homology to ubiquitin-specific proteases (ZnF-UBP), ~~which~~
242 ~~and~~ binds to unanchored ubiquitin (**Fig. 4**) (Zhang et al., 2006, Grozinger et al., 1999, Verdel et al.,
243 2000, Miyake et al., 2016). HDAC6 ZnF-UBP binds to ubiquitin at its C-terminal Gly-Gly residues
244 unlike most other ubiquitin binding domains, which interact with the hydrophobic core of
245 ubiquitin (Ouyang et al., 2012, Pai et al., 2007).

246

247 **[insert Figure 4 here]**

248

249

250 **HDAC6 regulates cellular stress granules, aggresomes and phase separation**

251

252 HDAC6 is a versatile cytosolic deacetylase and some of its non-histone substrates are α -tubulin

253 ~~eortactin~~, Hsp90, cortactin, HIV-1 Tat ~~and~~, DEAD box RNA helicase 3, ~~and~~ X-linked (DDX3X)

254 ~~[MCK17]~~ ~~[YY18]~~ (Saito et al., 2019, Zhang et al., 2016, Huo et al., 2011, Hubbert et al., 2002, Kovacs et

255 al., 2005, Zhang et al., 2007) (Reviewed in (Moreno-Gonzalo et al., 2018)). Most importantly,

256 HDAC6 functions in the management of the cellular stress response and the management of

257 misfolded proteins, phase separation, autophagy, pathogen sensing and neurodegeneration

258 (Matthias et al., 2008, Miyake et al., 2016, Saito et al., 2019, Zhang et al., 2008, Boyault et al., 2007,

259 Kawaguchi et al., 2003, Iwata et al., 2005, Hubbert et al., 2002, Kwon et al., 2007, Lee et al., 2010a,
260 Lee et al., 2010b, Moreno-Gonzalo et al., 2018).

261

262 HDAC6 participates in the formation of SGs and aggresomes (Kawaguchi et al., 2003, Kwon et al.,

263 2007). Misfolded proteins that result from genetic mutations, defective protein maturation, or

264 environmental stress are polyubiquitinated and degraded by the proteasome system. Protein

265 aggregates form when the proteasome is inadequate, [and](#) are harmful to cell survival and must be

266 eliminated (Tran and Miller, 1999). In the cell, misfolded protein aggregates are transported and

267 removed from the cytoplasm by dynein motors via microtubules to a membraneless organelle

268 called the aggresome (**Fig. 5**)(Kawaguchi et al., 2003). Aggresomes were first identified in the

269 characterisation of a mutant form of the aggregation-prone cystic fibrosis transmembrane

270 conducting regulator CFTR- Δ F508 (Johnston et al., 1998). CFTR- Δ F508 is normally

271 polyubiquitinated and degraded by the proteasome (Jensen et al., 1995, Ward et al., 1995).

272 However, the proteasome cannot degrade aggregates but stimulates autophagy-dependent

273 aggregate clearance by generating unanchored K63-linked ubiquitin chains via Poh1, a

274 proteasomal deubiquitinase (Nanduri et al., 2015, Hao et al., 2013). Inhibition of Hsp90 also

275 suppresses K63-linked ubiquitin chain formation and aggresome clearance (Nanduri et al., 2015).

276 Here, HDAC6 plays a central role by regulating both the concentration and autophagic clearance

277 of protein aggregates or aggresomes (Lee et al., 2010a, Iwata et al., 2005, Kawaguchi et al., 2003).

278

279 Unanchored ubiquitin is a hallmark of misfolded proteins in the cell and is typically generated

280 together with cell stress-induced misfolded proteins that are polyubiquitinated by the cellular

281 ubiquitination machinery. These misfolded proteins are normally linked with [ubiquitin](#) K-48 ([see](#)

282 [details below](#)) and degraded by the proteasome (Kawaguchi et al., 2003, Hao et al., 2013, Ouyang

283 et al., 2012). When this fails due to negative conditions of the cellular environment, the protein
284 waste complexes undergo further rounds of polyubiquitination and deubiquitination. This leads to
285 generation of polyubiquitin chains that are ‘unanchored’ and not conjugated to any substrate
286 protein. Poh1 – a deubiquitinase from JAMM/MPN+ family – is associated with the 26S
287 proteasome (Yao and Cohen, 2002), and plays a role in the recycling of ubiquitin. During
288 aggresome processing, unanchored ubiquitin that regulates HDAC6 function is generated by
289 deubiquitinases such as Ataxin-3 (Ouyang et al., 2012), which associate with protein aggregates
290 and the proteasome-residing Poh1 (Hao et al., 2013).

291

292 The unanchored ubiquitin chains are recognised by the ZnF-UBP of HDAC6 (Ouyang et al., 2012).
293 This binding activates recruitment of the molecular motor dynein to the dynein-binding region of
294 HDAC6 in between the two catalytic domains, and myosin II. Hydrophobic protein-protein
295 interactions retain the unanchored ubiquitin chains associated with the misfolded protein. Thus,
296 the action of dynein motors transports the misfolded protein aggregate towards the microtubule-
297 organising centre (MTOC), leading to aggresome formation. The action of myosin II and Poh1
298 promotes the disassembly of the aggresome. The catalytic activity of HDAC6 modulates
299 aggresome clearance (Hao et al., 2013) and eventually the autophagic machinery or UPS degrades
300 the misfolded protein (Moreno-Gonzalo et al., 2018).

301

302 **[Insert Figure 5 here, in color]**

303

304 **HDAC6 uncoats IAV via ubiquitin chains and the aggresome pathway**

305

306 The aggresome pathway and IAV uncoating share many similarities. Following viral fusion,
307 HDAC6 is recruited to the fusion site on LEs via viral unanchored ubiquitin, colocalising with
308 M1-positive vesicles (Banerjee et al., 2014). M1 binds to the HDAC6 N-terminal domain to form
309 an M1-HDAC6-polyubiquitin chain complex (Fig. 5). HDAC6 activation and triggering of the
310 aggresome pathway in turn connects the M1-HDAC6-ubiquitin chain complex to molecular
311 motors dynein (via the HDAC6 dynein-binding region) and myosin II (Fig. 4, 5). The mechanism
312 of myosin II recruitment remains to be solved. When both microtubules and actin are
313 depolymerised, IAV uncoating is completely inhibited (Banerjee et al., 2014).

314

315 The co-existence of deacetylase-dependent and -independent functions of HDAC6 adds layers of
316 complexity to the IAV infection phenotype observed upon full knockout of HDAC6. During viral
317 entry the ZnF is important for uncoating, however, after vRNP import the deacetylase's antiviral
318 functions come into play. For example, HDAC6 restricts IAV replication by deacetylating the
319 viral RNA polymerase PA subunit (Chen et al., 2019), and deacetylation of Lys909 of retinoic-acid
320 inducible gene I (RIG-I) by HDAC6 promotes RIG-I oligomerisation and viral RNA sensing,
321 activating mitochondrial antiviral signalling protein (MAVS)-IRF3-NF- κ B and IFN- β (Choi et al.,
322 2016). Overexpression of HDAC6 leads to diminished viral budding due to induction of hypo-
323 acetylated tubulin (Husain and Cheung, 2014, Husain and Harrod, 2011). Therefore, the complex
324 involvement of HDAC6 in the IAV life cycle must be interpreted with care (Zheng et al., 2017).

325

326 **How are ubiquitin chains made and packed into virions?**

327

328 Ubiquitination is a prevalent post-translational ~~modification~~ addition of ubiquitin (a small 8.5 kDa
329 protein composed of 76 amino acids) to other proteins, ~~that thus alters~~ altering the protein

330 function, localisation, trafficking and ~~its~~ degradation by the proteasome. Ubiquitin itself can be
331 ubiquitinated on 8 different sites, namely seven lysines and the N-terminal methionine. The most
332 prevalent types of ubiquitin linkages are K-48 and K-63 linkages. The former is known to lead to
333 proteasomal degradation of the substrate protein, and the latter is involved in endocytosis,
334 trafficking and enzyme activity (Komander and Rape, 2012, Kulathu and Komander, 2012).

335

336 Mechanistically, the process of protein ubiquitination involves a three-step enzymatic cascade,
337 which starts with the ubiquitin-activating enzyme E1, followed by the ubiquitin-conjugating
338 enzyme E2, and the ubiquitin ligase E3. Ubiquitin is activated in an ATP-dependent manner,
339 when a high-energy thioester bond is formed between the C-terminus of ubiquitin and an
340 internal cysteine residue of the ubiquitin-activating enzyme E1. Activated ubiquitin is then
341 transferred onto the active site cysteine of one of the E2-conjugating enzymes. Finally, the
342 formation of an isopeptide bond is catalyzed by E3 ubiquitin ligases, which link ubiquitin
343 moieties to target proteins or elongate a polyubiquitin chain (Ciechanover, 2015, Rudnicka and
344 Yamauchi, 2016). [Unanchored ubiquitin chains][MCK19][YY20] ranging from mono- to hepta-
345 ubiquitin are packaged into IAV virions in producer cells and can be detected in roughly 60 % of
346 individual particles by super-resolution fluorescence microscopy (**Fig. 6**) (Banerjee et al., 2014). It
347 is remarkable that IAV virions package such unanchored ubiquitin chains, and they are mostly
348 packed between the viral envelope and M1 layer to ensure cytosolic exposure following viral
349 fusion at LEs (**Fig. 5**) (Banerjee et al., 2014). [Open questions remain: Which ubiquitin modifying
350 enzymes generate the ubiquitin chains? How are the chains packaged into the virion? Is
351 packaging passive or active? What about other enveloped viruses?][MCK21]

352

353 [insert Figure 6 here]

354

355 Genome-wide siRNA screening, OMICs and other approaches have identified E3 ubiquitin ligases
356 that are important for the replication cycle of IAV. These are Cullin 3, ITCH, TRIM 25, NEDD4,
357 and UBR4 (Huotari et al., 2012, Gschweitl et al., 2016, Su et al., 2013, Tripathi et al., 2015,
358 Meyerson et al., 2017, Chesarino et al., 2015). Cullin 3, a member of the RING ubiquitin protein
359 ligase family, is critical for proper functionality of the endosome maturation program and thus its
360 effect on IAV uncoating is indirect. ITCH, a HECT-type family of E3 ubiquitin ligases, is
361 important for IAV uncoating and was shown to ubiquitinate M1 in *in vitro* ubiquitination assays
362 (Su et al., 2013). Its localisation to LEs suggests that ITCH can be present or recruited to viral sites
363 of fusion on the LE surface in order to ubiquitinate M1. An influenza OMICs study of the hit
364 genes from eight independent RNAi screen datasets identified UBR4, an UBR-box containing N-
365 recognin family of E3 ubiquitin ligases required for efficient autophagy and membrane
366 morphogenesis (Tasaki et al., 2013, Parsons et al., 2015). UBR4 interacts with viral M2 and
367 promotes its translocation to the plasma membrane during late stages of viral replication (Tripathi
368 et al., 2015). Interestingly, in UBR4 depleted cells, M2 is unable to reach the plasma membrane
369 and is degraded by autophagy, ~~the consequences being thus resulting in inhibited-inhibition of~~
370 viral budding from the plasma membrane (Tripathi et al., 2015).

371

372 Whether packaging of ubiquitin chains is promoted by any of ~~these~~ identified E3 ubiquitin ligases,
373 or any of the viral proteins, is unknown. However, it is likely that ubiquitin modifiers involved in
374 aggresome processing are important. Initial exposure of ubiquitin chains during early viral
375 infection recruits HDAC6 via the ZnF-UBP to the surface of LEs. A single amino acid substitution
376 (W1182A in human HDAC6, W1116A in mouse) blocks unanchored ubiquitin binding to the
377 ZnF and inhibits aggresomes and viral uncoating (Hao et al., 2013, Banerjee et al., 2014). That the

378 ubiquitin binding capacity of HDAC6 is necessary and sufficient to promote IAV uncoating
379 indicates the importance of the packaged ubiquitin chains. The linkages and various heterotypes
380 heterotypicity [MCK22][YY23] of the ubiquitin chains await elucidation. It is also clear that a fraction
381 of IAV uncoating occurs without the aid of HDAC6 (Banerjee et al., 2014).

382

383 **Karyopherin- β 2 (transportin-1/TNPO1): a cellular condensate surveillance factor**

384

385 M1 uncoating and vRNP debundling is-are promoted by ~~karyopherin- β 2~~ (kKap β 2) - also called
386 transportin-1 (TNPO1) - an import factor of RNA-binding proteins such as heterogenous nuclear
387 ribonucleoprotein A1 (hnRNP A1), FUS and HuR (Twyffels et al., 2014). Kap β 2 was identified as
388 the import factor for hnRNP A1 in mammalian cells (Pollard et al., 1996, Fridell et al., 1997,
389 Nakielny et al., 1996). A very similar protein named karyopherin- β 2B or transportin-2 was
390 discovered (Siomi et al., 1997, Shamsheer et al., 2002) and later shown to have two isoforms A and
391 B that share 84% and 92% sequence similarity with karyopherin- β 2 (Rebane et al., 2004).
392 Structural analysis of complexes between kKap β 2 and its nuclear localisation signals (NLSs)
393 showed common patterns among various kKap β 2-dependent NLSs and was-these were
394 collectively termed PY-NLS (**Fig. 7, 8**). Canonical PY-NLSs respond to physical rules: they should
395 be included in a basic and structurally disordered region. Cargoes that bear the PY-NLS are
396 mostly RNA-binding proteins with many of them having RNA processing or transcription activity
397 (Lee et al., 2006). The PY-NLS of hnRNP A1 is also known as the “M9” sequence.

398

399 **[insert Figure 7 here]**

400

401 The PY-NLS is defined by loose sequence motifs (N-terminal hydrophobic or basic motifs and a
402 C-terminal (R/K/H)X2-5PY motif), structural disorder, and an overall basic charge (Lee et al.,
403 2006). Recently it was shown that κ Kap β 2 binds with high affinity to the N-terminal tail of
404 histone H3 even though it lacks a recognisable PY-NLS. The N-terminal tail of H3 contacts many
405 of the same κ Kap β 2 residues as that of a typical PY-NLS (Soniati and Chook, 2016).

406 Combinatorial mixing of energetically weak and strong motifs, PY-NLS Epitopes 1, 2, and 3,
407 results in a range of κ Kap β 2 affinities suitable for nuclear import and generates large sequence
408 diversity of PY-NLSs (**Fig. 8**) (Suel et al., 2008). For example, H3 uses a very strong **E**pitope
409 **1**_{[MCK24][YY25]} (¹²G¹³G¹⁴G¹⁵K¹⁶APR¹⁷K¹⁸) to compensate for the lack of the often-conserved PY epitope
410 (Soniati and Chook, 2016). There are many other cargos without a PY sequence-NLS that binds
411 κ Kap β 2 such as N-terminal tail of histone H4 and ribosomal protein rpL23A , the RNA-editing
412 enzyme ADAR1 (Barraud et al., 2014), IAV M1 (Miyake et al., 2019a), ,viral proteins IAV M1
413 (Miyake et al., 2019a), HIV-1 REV (Fig. 8) (Arnold et al., 2006), HIV-1 CA (**Fig. 8**) (Fernandez et
414 al., 2019), and HPV E6 (Le Roux and Moroianu, 2003). The IAV M1 PY-NLS contains Epitopes 1
415 (¹⁸G¹⁹P²⁰L²¹) and 2 [MCK26][YY27](²⁴IAQR²⁷), of which Epitope 1 overlaps with the binding motif of HB-
416 64, an M1 monoclonal antibody that detects M1 uncoating (Fig. 8) (Miyake et al., 2019a). The
417 HIV-1 CA PY-NLS Epitope 1 (⁸⁸AGPI⁹¹) overlaps with the unstructured non-canonical
418 cyclophilin A (CypA) [MCK28]binding site (⁸⁸AGP⁹⁰) (Fig. 8) (Liu et al., 2016).

419

420 [insert Figure 8 here (fit to half of page-width)]

421

422 The link between IAV uncoating and management of cellular condensates

423

424 Viruses hijack ubiquitous processes to execute the viral uncoating program. Protein
425 disaggregation is central to the maintenance of a healthy state inside the cell and to ensure
426 longterm cell survival. To understand viral uncoating it is critical to dissect the cell biological
427 mechanisms of protein disaggregation and degradation (Yamauchi and Greber, 2016). To uncoat,
428 IAV uses aggresome processing (Banerjee et al., 2014), vaccinia virus uses the ubiquitin
429 proteasome system (UPS) (Schmidt et al., 2013b, Schmidt et al., 2013a), polyomaviruses use
430 endoplasmic reticulum-associated degradation (ERAD) (Geiger et al., 2011, Inoue and Tsai, 2011,
431 Schelhaas et al., 2007), [and](#) IAV and HIV-1 use nuclear import receptor (NIR)-mediated
432 disaggregation (Guo et al., 2018, Yoshizawa et al., 2018, Miyake et al., 2019a, Fernandez et al.,
433 2019).

434

435 Liquid-liquid phase separation (LLPS) is a common mechanism contributing to formation of
436 membrane-less organelles (Banani et al., 2017, Hyman et al., 2014). [SGs](#) and aggresomes are
437 membrane-less organelles that form when cells are under specific environmental stresses. SGs
438 represent a pool of mRNAs stalled in translation and are composed of ribonucleoproteins (RNPs)
439 (Protter and Parker, 2016). HDAC6 colocalises with the SG-marker Ras-GTPase-activating
440 protein SH3 domain-binding protein 1 (G3BP-1) under various stress conditions (Tourriere et al.,
441 2003). It was recently found that HDAC6 preferentially targets acetylated lysines in intrinsically
442 disordered regions (IDRs) of the SG component DDX3X (Saito et al., 2019). Stresses such as
443 oxidative and osmotic stress, [and or](#) inhibition of translation induced [the](#) acetylation of lysines in
444 IDRs by the acetyltransferase CBP. Acetylation of DDX3X-IDR1 inhibited LLPS, and its
445 deacetylation by HDAC6 was necessary for the assembly of large, mature SGs (Saito et al., 2019).

446

447 Aggresomes are misfolded protein aggregates that are enriched at microtubule organising centres
448 by microtubule-dependent motors and subsequently processed by autophagy (Tyedmers et al.,
449 2010). Recent studies have shown that LLPS driven by multivalent macromolecular interaction is
450 an important organising principle for biomolecular condensates. Classic organelles, like the
451 endoplasmic reticulum or Golgi apparatus are compartments defined by surrounding lipid bilayer
452 membranes. Many cellular compartments such as Cajal bodies and PML bodies, SGs and
453 aggresomes are not separated by membranes (Banani et al., 2017). The physical processes that
454 promote the formation of membraneless compartments such as P granules (perinuclear
455 membraneless compartments composed of proteins and RNAs found in germ cells of
456 *Caenorhabditis elegans*) are liquid-like. As such, P granules fuse with one another and relax back
457 into a spherical shape (Brangwynne et al., 2009). RNA granules are condensates that require
458 dynamic regulation by chaperones, ATP-dependent disaggregates and molecular motors
459 (Kroschwald et al., 2015, Jain et al., 2016).

460

461 What is most striking about the cellular function of $\text{Kap}\beta 2$ is its significant role in the
462 regulation of LLPS that is also connected to HDAC6 deacetylase activity and maturation of SGs
463 ~~(Fig. 9). $\text{Kap}\beta 2$ suppresses phase separation and SG association of FUS [MCK30] by chaperoning it~~
464 ~~and promoting solubility—a function that is absent in the neurodegenerative disease amyotrophic~~
465 ~~lateral sclerosis (ALS) in which disease lined mutations in the FUS NLS impair $\text{Kap}\beta 2$ binding~~
466 ~~(Hofweber et al., 2018).~~ It is thought that NLSs constitute disaggregation signals in the cytoplasm
467 and that nuclear import receptors such as $\text{Kap}\beta 2$ disaggregate NLS-bearing cargo and can
468 reverse phase separation of RNA-binding proteins (Guo et al., 2018, Yoshizawa et al., 2018). Kap
469 $\beta 2$ promotes RNA-binding protein solubility and suppresses their phase separation and SG

470 association. An example is the fused in sarcoma (FUS) gene which is a component of the hnRNP

471 complex that contains a PY-NLS recognised by kKap β 2 (Hofweber et al., 2018) (Fig. 8). YY31

472

473 [Insert Figure 9 here, in color]

474

475 How does kKap β 2 uncoat incoming influenza viruses? As an importin, kKap β 2 recognises a PY-

476 NLS on its cargo. The IAV M1 ~~N-terminus contains~~ epitopes 1 and 2 ~~[MCK32]~~ of a PY-NLS of which

477 ~~Gly18 is critical for recognition by Kap β 2 (Fig. 8) (Miyake et al., 2019a).~~ Ser17 and Pro19 of the

478 PY-NLS are buried interface residues of the N domains of the neutral pH M1 dimer (Harris et al.,

479 2001). The M1 N-terminal residues 18-GPL-20 are also important for recognition by HB-64, a

480 monoclonal anti-M1 antibody that reacts preferentially to uncoated M1 during virus entry

481 (Miyake et al., 2019a, Banerjee et al., 2013). Priming in LEs (pH<6.0) induces conformational

482 changes within the viral core resulting in the exposure of M1 G18, facilitating kKap β 2 binding

483 and promoting disaggregation of M1-M1 and vRNP-M1 complexes, leading to vRNP debundling

484 (Miyake et al., 2019a). Overexpression of M9-NLS (from hnRNP A1) competed with M1

485 uncoating (Miyake et al., 2019a). In the absence of endosomal priming, the incoming vRNPs-M1

486 do not dissociate and vRNPs fail to enter the nucleus (Martin and Helenius, 1991, Stauffer et al.,

487 2014). This indicates that the acidification cue during priming is critical for M1 PY-NLS exposure

488 and kKap β 2-mediated uncoating. Newly synthesised M1 monomers, however, ~~did~~ do not

489 interact with kKap β 2, reflecting that kKap β 2-M1 interaction is dependent on acidification of

490 high-order M1 oligomers that ~~is~~ are present in virions (Miyake et al., 2019a). This mechanism

491 prevents vRNP debundling or M1 uncoating by kKap β 2 from happening during assembly.

492

493 *Challenges in live imaging LAV endosomal escape (Box)*

494

495 During virus entry conformational changes within the influenza viral capsid or HA are induced
496 by cellular cues (reviewed in (Yamauchi and Greber, 2016)). Conformational changes can be
497 detected by specific monoclonal antibodies (such as one recognising the HA acid-form) used for
498 immunofluorescence quantification by automated microscopy and fluorescence activated cell
499 sorting (FACS) (Banerjee et al., 2013, Yanguéz et al., 2018, Miyake et al., 2019a, Larson et al., 2019,
500 Gschweidl et al., 2016, Mar et al., 2018). HA acidification triggers lipid mixing between
501 membranes of the virus and LEs, and formation of a fusion pore (White et al., 1981, Helenius,
502 2013, Harrison, 2008). The hemifusion/fusion of a viral envelope with the endosomal membrane
503 can be detected by viral labelling with lipophilic dyes administered at a self-quenching
504 concentration. The dye dequenches upon low pH-induced lipid mixing, resulting in increased
505 fluorescence that can be readily detected by fluorescence microscopy or fluorescence activated
506 cell sorting (FACS). This method has been used successfully for a variety of virus entry studies
507 (Banerjee et al., 2013, Sakai et al., 2006, Krzyzaniak et al., 2013, Pohl et al., 2014, Rowse et al.,
508 2015, Zaitseva et al., 2010, Lakadamyali et al., 2003).

509

510 Virus fusion assays using liposomes, lipid droplets, or lipid bilayers have been combined with
511 spectrofluorimetry or total internal reflection fluorescence (TIRF) microscopy equipped with a
512 microfluidic device. These methods allow measurement of fusion kinetics and viral content
513 release (Floyd et al., 2008, Wessels et al., 2007). In addition, cryo electron tomography can be
514 used to quantify sequential membrane remodelling during influenza virus-liposome fusion (Gui et
515 al., 2016, Lee, 2010, Chlanda et al., 2016). Specifically, [these steps include](#) HA mediated dimpling

516 of the liposomal membrane, pinching, formation of a tightly docked interface of viral and
517 liposomal membranes followed by M1 dissociation, hemifusion and full fusion (Gui et al., 2016).
518 It is thought that small pores on the viral/endosomal membranes may initially form to proceed
519 into a pore large enough for viral penetration (Zimmerberg et al., 1994). It is also thought that
520 receptor-bound HAs are not able to carry out fusion (Dobay et al., 2011). Increased lability of the
521 particle by endosomal priming could increase the number of non-receptor-bound HA trimers that
522 come into proximity of the limiting membrane of the LE.

523

524 Discrimination between hemifusion/fusion in cells requires a virus content release assay in which
525 a dye or fluorophore within the particle is released into the cytosol. An example is HIV-1 grown
526 in ~~cyt~~ *cyt* ~~oph~~ *oph* ~~ilin~~ *ilin* ~~A~~ *A*-(CypA)-DsRed expressing cells that incorporate CypA into the viral capsid, thus
527 allowing the progeny particles to be used for virus content release imaging studies (Francis et al.,
528 2016). GFP-Vpr has also been used to detect content release during HIV-1 entry into host cells
529 (Desai et al., 2014). For IAV there are no robust content release assays compatible with live cell
530 imaging, apart from a recently reported quantum dot (QD) labelling approach of the viral RNA
531 polymerase subunit (Qin et al., 2019). To circumvent this influenza virus-like particles (VLPs)
532 with a β lactamase fused to the N-terminus of M1 (BlaM1) have been used to detect full fusion
533 and pore formation in cells (Tscherne et al., 2010). In this approach, CCF2/4 (a green dye) is
534 cleaved by β lactamase released into the cytosol which alters the dye to a blue fluorescence.

535 These VLPs, however, are not suited to study post-fusion uncoating and nuclear import events.

536

537 The interferon induced transmembrane protein 3 (IFITM3) inhibits the cytosolic entry of many
538 enveloped and some non-enveloped viruses (Smith et al., 2014). The antiviral properties of
539 IFITM1, 2 and 3 were only discovered in 2009 in an RNAi screen for regulators of influenza

540 infection (Brass et al., 2009). IFITM3-mediated inhibition of IAV entry and replication is of
541 particular importance. Two single nucleotide polymorphism (SNPs); one in the coding region
542 (rs12252-C) and another in the promoter region (rs34481144) was shown to regulate severity of
543 influenza in human patients (Allen et al., 2017, Everitt et al., 2012). The rs34481144 allele
544 regulates IFITM3 expression by determining methylation-dependent binding of the CTCF
545 transcriptional repressor (Allen et al., 2017). The mechanism by which IFITM3 restricts virus
546 entry remains controversial. Li and colleagues showed that IFITM3 blocks viral hemifusion by
547 increasing membrane rigidity in IFITM3-overexpressing cells (Li et al., 2013). Desai and
548 colleagues showed using single virus particle analysis of Alexa Fluor 488- and DiD-labeled IAV
549 and influenza pseudovirus that IFITM3 inhibited fusion pore formation at late endosomes but
550 lipid mixing happened normally (Desai et al., 2014).

551 *(end of Box)*

552

553 **vRNP nuclear import**

554

555 The end-point of influenza virus entry is the nuclear import of the uncoated vRNPs, which is an
556 importin α/β -dependent process regulated by α -classical NLSs (Boulo et al., 2007). Therefore,
557 IAV hijacks two distinct nuclear import machineries during viral entry. The viral RNP is made of
558 oligomeric NP, the RNA genome and viral polymerase (Moeller et al., 2012). One NP molecule
559 binds 24-27 nucleotides *in vivo* (Area et al., 2004, Martin-Benito et al., 2001) and also has two sets
560 of NLS, ensuring robust nuclear import of uncoated vRNPs (Eisfeld et al., 2015, Wu et al., 2007).
561 When influenza vRNPs free of M1 were microinjected into cells, their nuclear accumulation was
562 observed after 1 h of injection. Nuclear uptake occurred whether the vRNPs were prepared at
563 neutral pH or extracted from viruses at acidic pH (pH 5.5) (Kemler et al., 1994). Cores that

564 consisted of vRNPs and M1 could not be ~~uptaken~~imported into the nucleus. Thus the removal of
565 M1 by ~~k~~Kap β 2 causes the dissociation of vRNPs from each other, ensuring that they are small
566 enough to pass through the nuclear pore (Bui et al., 1996, Kemler et al., 1994, Miyake et al.,
567 2019a). During cell entry the accumulation of vRNPs in the nucleus can be detected by
568 immunofluorescence or fluorescence in situ hybridisation (FISH) (Chou et al., 2013, Banerjee et
569 al., 2013, Pohl et al., 2014) or by microinjection of purified vRNPs (Kemler et al., 1994, Babcock
570 et al., 2004). Using single-particle tracking of microinjected, fluorescently labelled vRNPs, it was
571 shown that vRNPs undergo multiple rounds of binding and release before finally being
572 translocated through the NPC (Babcock et al., 2004). A recent study used quantum dot (QD)-
573 bound IAV polymerase subunit PA to image incoming IAV PR8 strain vRNPs. In MDCK cells,
574 incoming vRNPs exited from Rab7-positive LEs 30 to 90 minutes after infection (Qin et al., 2019).
575 Here, separation of different vRNP segments were observed simultaneously or soon after the viral
576 particles separated from Rab7-positive LEs, suggesting that M1 uncoating and vRNP debundling
577 are events that take place rapidly at the LE surface. Following LE exit the QD-vRNPs translocated
578 into the nucleus in a three-stage movement and exhibited two types of diffusion patterns in the
579 nucleus (Qin et al., 2019).

580

581 **How IAV prevents uncoating during assembly**

582

583 In a series of elegant experiments Bui et al. showed that recombinant M1 expressed via a Semliki
584 Forest Virus vector in cultured cells associates with vRNPs and inhibits their nuclear import. This
585 interfering activity was eliminated after transient acidification of the cytosol to pH values
586 approaching that of the late endosome (pH 5.0 to 5.5) using a NH_4Cl -prepulse protocol, after
587 which the incoming vRNPs were able to enter the nucleus (Bui et al., 1996).

588

589 After replication in the nucleus, progeny vRNPs are exported to the cytoplasm via M1 and NEP.

590 Here, the exported vRNPs are prevented from re-import into the nucleus due to binding to M1

591 protein (Whittaker et al., 1996, Babcock et al., 2004).

592

593 How can a virus be assembled in an infected cell and disassemble during entry into an uninfected

594 cell? The first possibility is that the virus capsid is assembled as a stable structure in an infected

595 cell and rendered metastable, for example by limited proteolysis, such that it can receive cues

596 from the host (Greber et al., 1994). The second possibility is that the virus particle remains the

597 same during assembly and egress but the infected and uninfected cells are different i.e. an

598 uncoating factor may be activated during viral entry but rendered inactive during viral assembly.

599 A third possibility is that the virus is unchanged but assembly and uncoating are spatially

600 separated - viruses that undergo endocytosis use this strategy among others. [MCK33]

601

602 Low pH in LEs can prime influenza virus cores for disassembly by specifically causing M1

603 dissociation and allowing the vRNPs to enter the nucleus (Martin and Helenius, 1991).

604 Remarkably, newly assembled progeny M1-vRNP complexes in the cytosol of infected cells are

605 also dissociated by acidification. [Using a heterokaryon system, Bui et al. showed that the removal

606 of M1 from progeny vRNPs ([that have exited the nucleus of an infected cell](#)) by brief acidification

607 allows vRNPs to re-enter the nucleus of [a non-infected cells](#) (Bui et al., 1996)[MCK34][YY35]. Thus,

608 acidic pH inside endosomes serves as a critical switch that allows M1 to carry out its multiple

609 functions in the uncoating, nuclear transport, and assembly of vRNPs. Finally, Figure 10

610 summarises the stepwise entry of IAV into host cells from attachment, uptake (clathrin-mediated

611 endocytosis or macropinocytosis), priming in endosomes by endosome maturation, viral fusion

612 with LEs and fusion pore formation, M1 shell uncoating by HDAC6, vRNP debundling by ~~k~~Kap β
613 ~~β~~ -2, and vRNP import into the nucleus (Fig. 10).

614

615 [insert Figure 10 here, in color, rotate 90 degrees counter clock-wise to fill one page]

616

617 Kap β 2 is a ~~The emerging concept of u~~universal uncoating factors^[MCK36]

618

619 ~~As shown in Figure 11, Karyopherin- β 2 is emerging as a universal uncoating factor for~~
620 ~~enveloped RNA viruses~~It is logical that multiple viruses hijack Kap β 2, a key player in the
621 regulation of LLPS, for uncoating by containing a PY NLS in their capsid protein, and has been
622 ~~shown to use a similar mechanism to uncoat IAV and HIV-1 (Fig. 11) (Miyake et al., 2019a,~~
623 ~~Fernandez et al., 2019).~~there is a remarkable similarity between the uncoating mechanisms of
624 IAV and HIV-1 uncoating suggests that usage of PY NLS is a common RNA virus uncoating
625 strategy. Similar Potential PY-NLS ssequences with a loose consensus of $-\phi$ -G/A/S- ϕ - ϕ (where ϕ is
626 a hydrophobic side chain) (Lee et al., 2006) are found in the coat proteins of flaviviruses and
627 filoviruses,; however, Whether if thesesuch sequences contribute to viral uncoating remains to be
628 seen. Kap β 2 binds unstructured NLSs (Lee et al., 2006). For Both viruses possess a PY NLS in their
629 shell protein (Fig. 8) which is recognised by Kap β 2 in the cytosol. IAV M1, Gly18 and its

630 adjacent hydrophobic residues is~~are important for~~ ~~is critical for viral infectivity,~~ ~~and primed~~
631 G18A mutant IAV virions failed to interact with kKap β 2 interaction. G18A mutant virions
632 exhibit a dual negative effect on viral assembly and uncoating, which greatly compromises
633 infectivity (Miyake et al., 2019a). Interestingly, X-ray crystallography and structural analysis of
634 M1 G18A showed thedisappearance of a cavity present in the WT M1 (L1/L3 loop region).

635 ~~indicating that~~ This structural alteration likely impacts M1 binding to kKap β 2, ~~as well as, HB-~~
636 ~~64 monoclonal antibody M1 binding~~ (Miyake et al., 2019a). Kap β 2 is known to bind
637 unstructured NLSs (Lee et al., 2006). ~~It is unclear which part of M1 dimer becomes disordered for~~
638 ~~optimal Kap β 2 binding~~. ~~For example, the~~ disordered linker region between the N- and C-
639 terminal domains of M1 ~~is a candidate, due to its~~ becomes ~~increasing~~ susceptible to limited
640 protoolysis ~~disordered nature and after low pH/high K⁺ treatment priming induced exposure~~
641 (Stauffer et al., 2014). ~~Though the linker is not part of the canonical PY-NLS (Fig. 8) it may~~
642 contribute to kap β 2 binding due to its ~~physical proximity to G18~~ the PY-NLS in the three-
643 dimensional M1 structure. Thus, the PY-NLS of M1 is most likely to be unconventional and may
644 recruit kap β 2 only under a specific structural context that is active during viral entry. That
645 Newly synthesised M1 failed to interact with kap β 2 suggests that the PY-NLS of M1 recruits
646 kap β 2 only under a structural context that is present during viral entry (Miyake et al., 2019a).
647 This would separate viral uncoating and assembly and be beneficial for IAV.

648
649 For HIV-1, Glycine-89 of HIV-1-CA overlaps with the unstructured non-canonical cGypA
650 [MCK37]binding site (⁸⁸A88-G89-P90) (Fig. 8) (Liu et al., 2016). Since a single cGypA bridges two CA
651 molecules from adjacent hexamers, a sub-stoichiometric level of cGypA stabilizes the capsid and
652 protects premature uncoating, thus promoting reverse transcription in all cell types (Sayah and
653 Luban, 2004). Glycine 89 is also crucial for kKap β 2 binding to the CA lattice, and for uncoating
654 and subsequent nuclear import of the HIV-1 genome. The G89V mutant HIV-1 disposed of the
655 kKap β 2-dependent phenotype for cell entry albeit with deleterious effects on viral infectivity.

656 Recombinant kKap β 2 protein ~~induced structural damage to~~ disassembles purified wt HIV-1

657 capsid/nucleocapsids (~~GANG~~_{MCK38}) whereas ~~G89V mutant~~ _{YY39} capsid/nucleocapsids ~~GANG~~
658 ~~was~~_{were} unaffected. Molecular docking simulations suggested that ~~k~~_Kap β 2 may insert itself
659 between capsid hexamers, which could induce strong steric hindrance and uncoating (Fernandez
660 et al., 2019). ~~To summarise, kap β 2 is emerging as a universal viral uncoating factor. Thus, it is~~
661 ~~logical that, for efficient viral uncoating and disaggregation of viral capsids, RNA viruses have~~
662 ~~evolved to hijack kap β 2, a key player in the regulation of LLPS, for efficient viral uncoating and~~
663 ~~disaggregation of incoming capsids. It is logical that multiple viruses hijack Kap β 2, a key player~~
664 ~~in the regulation of LLPS, for uncoating by containing a PY-NLS in their capsid protein.~~

665

666 [insert Figure 11 here]

667

668 Concluding remarks

669

670 Influenza viruses are pathogens of enormous medical and economic impact. According to the
671 World Health Organization (WHO), annual influenza epidemics result in an estimated 3–5
672 million cases of severe illness and 290,000 to 650,000 deaths worldwide each year. The virus'
673 zoonotic nature, its segmented genome, and the error-prone viral RNA polymerase means that
674 IAV can undergo antigenic alterations and genetic reassortment that can lead to an unexpected
675 pandemic. Current seasonal influenza virus vaccines do not provide sufficient protection to
676 alleviate the annual impact of influenza and cannot confer protection against potentially
677 pandemic influenza. The lack of protection is due to rapid changes of the viral epitopes targeted
678 by the vaccine and the often suboptimal immunogenicity of current immunization strategies
679 (Nachbagauer and Palese, 2019). Current and past IAV antivirals target [the](#) viral proteins NA

680 (oseltamivir, Tamiflu®), ~~the~~ RNA polymerase (baloxavir marboxil, Xofluza) or M2 channel
681 (amantadine). That amantadine was historically effective (until viral resistance spread) indicates
682 the importance of priming and uncoating in a physiological context and for IAV pathogenicity.
683 During the last decade, genome-wide screens using siRNA, haploid cells, and CRISPR/Cas
684 identified a multitude of host cell factors that promote viral entry and infection. However, not
685 much is known about the precise mechanism of action. For such findings to develop into viable
686 cell-targeted antiviral therapies, they require mechanistic dissection of the interplay that occurs at
687 the interface of virus and host. In the future, we may be able to develop antiviral strategies that
688 complement influenza vaccines, and also identify universal uncoating pathways used by
689 enveloped RNA viruses. The 2020s holds promise in the conceptual advancement of broadband
690 antiviral therapeutics that target cellular machineries essential for the entry and uncoating of
691 enveloped RNA viruses.

692

693 **Acknowledgements**

694

695 The author would like to thank Yasuyuki Miyake for help with preparation of the figures in this
696 manuscript.

697

698

699

700 **References**

701

702 AKARSU, H., BURMEISTER, W. P., PETOSA, C., PETIT, I., MULLER, C. W., RUIGROK,
703 R. W. & BAUDIN, F. 2003. Crystal structure of the M1 protein-binding domain of
704 the influenza A virus nuclear export protein (NEP/NS2). *EMBO J*, 22, 4646-55.

705 ALENQUER, M., VALE-COSTA, S., ETIBOR, T. A., FERREIRA, F., SOUSA, A. L. &
706 AMORIM, M. J. 2019. Influenza A virus ribonucleoproteins form liquid organelles
707 at endoplasmic reticulum exit sites. *Nat Commun*, 10, 1629.

708 ALLEN, E. K., RANDOLPH, A. G., BHANGALE, T., DOGRA, P., OHLSON, M.,
709 OSHANSKY, C. M., ZAMORA, A. E., SHANNON, J. P., FINKELSTEIN, D.,
710 DRESSEN, A., DEVINCENZO, J., CANIZA, M., YOUNGBLOOD, B.,
711 ROSENBERGER, C. M. & THOMAS, P. G. 2017. SNP-mediated disruption of
712 CTCF binding at the IFITM3 promoter is associated with risk of severe influenza
713 in humans. *Nat Med*, 23, 975-983.

714 AMORIM, M. J., BRUCE, E. A., READ, E. K., FOEGLEIN, A., MAHEN, R., STUART, A.
715 D. & DIGARD, P. 2011. A Rab11- and microtubule-dependent mechanism for
716 cytoplasmic transport of influenza A virus viral RNA. *J Virol*, 85, 4143-56.

717 AREA, E., MARTIN-BENITO, J., GASTAMINZA, P., TORREIRA, E., VALPUESTA, J. M.,
718 CARRASCOSA, J. L. & ORTIN, J. 2004. 3D structure of the influenza virus
719 polymerase complex: localization of subunit domains. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*,
720 101, 308-13.

721 ARNOLD, M., NATH, A., HAUBER, J. & KEHLENBACH, R. H. 2006. Multiple importins
722 function as nuclear transport receptors for the Rev protein of human
723 immunodeficiency virus type 1. *J Biol Chem*, 281, 20883-90.

724 BABCOCK, H. P., CHEN, C. & ZHUANG, X. 2004. Using single-particle tracking to study
725 nuclear trafficking of viral genes. *Biophys J*, 87, 2749-58.

726 BANANI, S. F., LEE, H. O., HYMAN, A. A. & ROSEN, M. K. 2017. Biomolecular
727 condensates: organizers of cellular biochemistry. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol*, 18, 285-
728 298.

729 BANERJEE, I., MIYAKE, Y., NOBS, S. P., SCHNEIDER, C., HORVATH, P., KOPF, M.,
730 MATTHIAS, P., HELENIUS, A. & YAMAUCHI, Y. 2014. Influenza A virus uses
731 the aggresome processing machinery for host cell entry. *Science*, 346, 473-7.

732 BANERJEE, I., YAMAUCHI, Y., HELENIUS, A. & HORVATH, P. 2013. High-content
733 analysis of sequential events during the early phase of influenza A virus infection.
734 *PLoS One*, 8, e68450.

735 BARRAUD, P., BANERJEE, S., MOHAMED, W. I., JANTSCH, M. F. & ALLAIN, F. H.
736 2014. A bimodular nuclear localization signal assembled via an extended double-
737 stranded RNA-binding domain acts as an RNA-sensing signal for transportin 1.
738 *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 111, E1852-61.

739 BOULO, S., AKARSU, H., RUIGROK, R. W. & BAUDIN, F. 2007. Nuclear traffic of
740 influenza virus proteins and ribonucleoprotein complexes. *Virus Res*, 124, 12-21.

741 BOYVAULT, C., ZHANG, Y., FRITAH, S., CARON, C., GILQUIN, B., KWON, S. H.,
742 GARRIDO, C., YAO, T. P., VOUREC'H, C., MATTHIAS, P. & KHOCHBIN, S. 2007.
743 HDAC6 controls major cell response pathways to cytotoxic accumulation of
744 protein aggregates. *Genes Dev*, 21, 2172-81.

745 BRANGWYNNE, C. P., ECKMANN, C. R., COURSON, D. S., RYBARSKA, A., HOEGE,
746 C., GHARAKHANI, J., JULICHER, F. & HYMAN, A. A. 2009. Germline P
747 granules are liquid droplets that localize by controlled dissolution/condensation.
748 *Science*, 324, 1729-32.

749 BRASS, A. L., HUANG, I. C., BENITA, Y., JOHN, S. P., KRISHNAN, M. N., FEELEY, E.
750 M., RYAN, B. J., WEYER, J. L., VAN DER WEYDEN, L., FIKRIG, E., ADAMS, D.
751 J., XAVIER, R. J., FARZAN, M. & ELLEDGE, S. J. 2009. The IFITM proteins
752 mediate cellular resistance to influenza A H1N1 virus, West Nile virus, and
753 dengue virus. *Cell*, 139, 1243-54.

754 BRETSCHER, M. S., THOMSON, J. N. & PEARSE, B. M. 1980. Coated pits act as
755 molecular filters. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 77, 4156-9.

756 BUI, M., WHITTAKER, G. & HELENIUS, A. 1996. Effect of M1 protein and low pH on
757 nuclear transport of influenza virus ribonucleoproteins. *J Virol*, 70, 8391-401.

758 CHEN, C. & ZHUANG, X. 2008. Epsin 1 is a cargo-specific adaptor for the clathrin-
759 mediated endocytosis of the influenza virus. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 105, 11790-
760 5.

761 CHEN, H., QIAN, Y., CHEN, X., RUAN, Z., YE, Y., CHEN, H., BABIUK, L. A., JUNG, Y.
762 S. & DAI, J. 2019. HDAC6 Restricts Influenza A Virus by Deacetylation of the
763 RNA Polymerase PA Subunit. *J Virol*, 93.

764 CHESARINO, N. M., MCMICHAEL, T. M. & YOUNT, J. S. 2015. E3 Ubiquitin Ligase
765 NEDD4 Promotes Influenza Virus Infection by Decreasing Levels of the Antiviral
766 Protein IFITM3. *PLoS Pathog*, 11, e1005095.

767 CHLANDA, P., MEKHEDOV, E., WATERS, H., SCHWARTZ, C. L., FISCHER, E. R.,
768 RYHAM, R. J., COHEN, F. S., BLANK, P. S. & ZIMMERBERG, J. 2016. The
769 hemifusion structure induced by influenza virus haemagglutinin is determined by
770 physical properties of the target membranes. *Nat Microbiol*, 1, 16050.

771 CHOI, S. J., LEE, H. C., KIM, J. H., PARK, S. Y., KIM, T. H., LEE, W. K., JANG, D. J.,
772 YOON, J. E., CHOI, Y. I., KIM, S., MA, J., KIM, C. J., YAO, T. P., JUNG, J. U., LEE,
773 J. Y. & LEE, J. S. 2016. HDAC6 regulates cellular viral RNA sensing by
774 deacetylation of RIG-I. *EMBO J*, 35, 429-42.

775 CHOU, Y. Y., HEATON, N. S., GAO, Q., PALESE, P., SINGER, R. H. & LIONNET, T.
776 2013. Colocalization of different influenza viral RNA segments in the cytoplasm
777 before viral budding as shown by single-molecule sensitivity FISH analysis. *PLoS*
778 *Pathog*, 9, e1003358.

779 CHU, V. C. & WHITTAKER, G. R. 2004. Influenza virus entry and infection require host
780 cell N-linked glycoprotein. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 101, 18153-8.

781 CIECHANOVER, A. 2015. The unravelling of the ubiquitin system. *Nat Rev Mol Cell*
782 *Biol*, 16, 322-4.

783 DE CASTRO MARTIN, I. F., FOURNIER, G., SACHSE, M., PIZARRO-CERDA, J., RISCO,
784 C. & NAFFAKH, N. 2017. Influenza virus genome reaches the plasma membrane
785 via a modified endoplasmic reticulum and Rab11-dependent vesicles. *Nat*
786 *Commun*, 8, 1396.

787 DE VRIES, E., DE VRIES, R. P., WIENHOLTS, M. J., FLORIS, C. E., JACOBS, M. S., VAN
788 DEN HEUVEL, A., ROTTIER, P. J. & DE HAAN, C. A. 2012. Influenza A virus
789 entry into cells lacking sialylated N-glycans. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 109, 7457-
790 62.

791 DE VRIES, E., TSCHERNE, D. M., WIENHOLTS, M. J., COBOS-JIMENEZ, V., SCHOLTE,
792 F., GARCIA-SASTRE, A., ROTTIER, P. J. & DE HAAN, C. A. 2011. Dissection of

793 the influenza A virus endocytic routes reveals macropinocytosis as an alternative
794 entry pathway. *PLoS Pathog*, 7, e1001329.

795 DESAI, T. M., MARIN, M., CHIN, C. R., SAVIDIS, G., BRASS, A. L. & MELIKYAN, G. B.
796 2014. IFITM3 restricts influenza A virus entry by blocking the formation of fusion
797 pores following virus-endosome hemifusion. *PLoS Pathog*, 10, e1004048.

798 DOBAY, M. P., DOBAY, A., BANTANG, J. & MENDOZA, E. 2011. How many trimers?
799 Modeling influenza virus fusion yields a minimum aggregate size of six trimers,
800 three of which are fusogenic. *Mol Biosyst*, 7, 2741-9.

801 EDINGER, T. O., POHL, M. O. & STERTZ, S. 2014. Entry of influenza A virus: host
802 factors and antiviral targets. *J Gen Virol*, 95, 263-77.

803 EDINGER, T. O., POHL, M. O., YANGUEZ, E. & STERTZ, S. 2015. Cathepsin W Is
804 Required for Escape of Influenza A Virus from Late Endosomes. *MBio*, 6, e00297.

805 EIERHOFF, T., HRINCIUS, E. R., RESCHER, U., LUDWIG, S. & EHRHARDT, C. 2010.
806 The epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) promotes uptake of influenza A
807 viruses (IAV) into host cells. *PLoS Pathog*, 6, e1001099.

808 EISFELD, A. J., KAWAKAMI, E., WATANABE, T., NEUMANN, G. & KAWAOKA, Y.
809 2011. RAB11A is essential for transport of the influenza virus genome to the
810 plasma membrane. *J Virol*, 85, 6117-26.

811 EISFELD, A. J., NEUMANN, G. & KAWAOKA, Y. 2015. At the centre: influenza A virus
812 ribonucleoproteins. *Nat Rev Microbiol*, 13, 28-41.

813 ELLMEIER, W. & SEISER, C. 2018. Histone deacetylase function in CD4(+) T cells. *Nat*
814 *Rev Immunol*, 18, 617-634.

815 EVERITT, A. R., CLARE, S., PERTEL, T., JOHN, S. P., WASH, R. S., SMITH, S. E., CHIN,
816 C. R., FEELEY, E. M., SIMS, J. S., ADAMS, D. J., WISE, H. M., KANE, L.,
817 GOULDING, D., DIGARD, P., ANTTILA, V., BAILLIE, J. K., WALSH, T. S.,
818 HUME, D. A., PALOTIE, A., XUE, Y., COLONNA, V., TYLER-SMITH, C.,
819 DUNNING, J., GORDON, S. B., GEN, I. I., INVESTIGATORS, M., SMYTH, R. L.,
820 OPENSHAW, P. J., DOUGAN, G., BRASS, A. L. & KELLAM, P. 2012. IFITM3
821 restricts the morbidity and mortality associated with influenza. *Nature*, 484, 519-
822 23.

823 FERNANDEZ, J., MACHADO, A. K., LYONNAIS, S., CHAMONTIN, C., GARTNER, K.,
824 LEGER, T., HENRIQUET, C., GARCIA, C., PORTILHO, D. M., PUGNIERE, M.,
825 CHALOIN, L., MURIAUX, D., YAMAUCHI, Y., BLAISE, M., NISOLE, S. &
826 ARHEL, N. J. 2019. Transportin-1 binds to the HIV-1 capsid via a nuclear
827 localization signal and triggers uncoating. *Nat Microbiol*, 4, 1840-1850.

828 FLOYD, D. L., RAGAINS, J. R., SKEHEL, J. J., HARRISON, S. C. & VAN OIJEN, A. M.
829 2008. Single-particle kinetics of influenza virus membrane fusion. *Proc Natl Acad*
830 *Sci U S A*, 105, 15382-7.

831 FRANCIS, A. C., MARIN, M., SHI, J., AIKEN, C. & MELIKYAN, G. B. 2016. Time-
832 Resolved Imaging of Single HIV-1 Uncoating In Vitro and in Living Cells. *PLoS*
833 *Pathog*, 12, e1005709.

834 FRIDELL, R. A., TRUANT, R., THORNE, L., BENSON, R. E. & CULLEN, B. R. 1997.
835 Nuclear import of hnRNP A1 is mediated by a novel cellular cofactor related to
836 karyopherin-beta. *J Cell Sci*, 110 (Pt 11), 1325-31.

837 FUJIOKA, Y., NISHIDE, S., OSE, T., SUZUKI, T., KATO, I., FUKUHARA, H., FUJIOKA,
838 M., HORIUCHI, K., SATOH, A. O., NEPAL, P., KASHIWAGI, S., WANG, J.,
839 HORIGUCHI, M., SATO, Y., PAUDEL, S., NANBO, A., MIYAZAKI, T.,
840 HASEGAWA, H., MAENAKA, K. & OHBA, Y. 2018. A Sialylated Voltage-
841 Dependent Ca(2+) Channel Binds Hemagglutinin and Mediates Influenza A Virus
842 Entry into Mammalian Cells. *Cell Host Microbe*, 23, 809-818 e5.

843 FUJIOKA, Y., TSUDA, M., NANBO, A., HATTORI, T., SASAKI, J., SASAKI, T.,
844 MIYAZAKI, T. & OHBA, Y. 2013. A Ca(2+)-dependent signalling circuit regulates
845 influenza A virus internalization and infection. *Nat Commun*, 4, 2763.

846 GEIGER, R., ANDRITSCHKE, D., FRIEBE, S., HERZOG, F., LUISONI, S., HEGER, T. &
847 HELENIUS, A. 2011. BAP31 and BiP are essential for dislocation of SV40 from the
848 endoplasmic reticulum to the cytosol. *Nat Cell Biol*, 13, 1305-14.

849 GOODSSELL, D. S., AUTIN, L. & OLSON, A. J. 2019. Illustrate: Software for Biomolecular
850 Illustration. *Structure*, 27, 1716-1720 e1.

851 GREBER, U. F., SINGH, I. & HELENIUS, A. 1994. Mechanisms of virus uncoating. *Trends*
852 *Microbiol*, 2, 52-6.

853 GRECCO, H. E., SCHMICK, M. & BASTIAENS, P. I. 2011. Signaling from the living
854 plasma membrane. *Cell*, 144, 897-909.

855 GREGORETTI, I. V., LEE, Y. M. & GOODSON, H. V. 2004. Molecular evolution of the
856 histone deacetylase family: functional implications of phylogenetic analysis. *J Mol*
857 *Biol*, 338, 17-31.

858 GROZINGER, C. M., HASSIG, C. A. & SCHREIBER, S. L. 1999. Three proteins define a
859 class of human histone deacetylases related to yeast Hda1p. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S*
860 *A*, 96, 4868-73.

861 GSCHWEITL, M., ULBRICHT, A., BARNES, C. A., ENCHEV, R. I., STOFFEL-STUDER,
862 I., MEYER-SCHALLER, N., HUOTARI, J., YAMAUCHI, Y., GREBER, U. F.,
863 HELENIUS, A. & PETER, M. 2016. A SPOPL/Cullin-3 ubiquitin ligase complex
864 regulates endocytic trafficking by targeting EPS15 at endosomes. *Elife*, 5, e13841.

865 GUI, L., EBNER, J. L., MILEANT, A., WILLIAMS, J. A. & LEE, K. K. 2016. Visualization
866 and Sequencing of Membrane Remodeling Leading to Influenza Virus Fusion. *J*
867 *Viro*, 90, 6948-62.

868 GUO, L., KIM, H. J., WANG, H., MONAGHAN, J., FREYERMUTH, F., SUNG, J. C.,
869 O'DONOVAN, K., FARE, C. M., DIAZ, Z., SINGH, N., ZHANG, Z. C.,
870 COUGHLIN, M., SWEENEY, E. A., DESANTIS, M. E., JACKREL, M. E., RODELL,
871 C. B., BURDICK, J. A., KING, O. D., GITLER, A. D., LAGIER-TOURENNE, C.,
872 PANDEY, U. B., CHOOK, Y. M., TAYLOR, J. P. & SHORTER, J. 2018. Nuclear-
873 Import Receptors Reverse Aberrant Phase Transitions of RNA-Binding Proteins
874 with Prion-like Domains. *Cell*, 173, 677-692 e20.

875 HAIGIS, M. C. & GUARENTE, L. P. 2006. Mammalian sirtuins--emerging roles in
876 physiology, aging, and calorie restriction. *Genes Dev*, 20, 2913-21.

877 HAO, R., NANDURI, P., RAO, Y., PANICHELLI, R. S., ITO, A., YOSHIDA, M. & YAO,
878 T. P. 2013. Proteasomes activate aggresome disassembly and clearance by
879 producing unanchored ubiquitin chains. *Mol Cell*, 51, 819-28.

880 HARRIS, A., FOROUHAR, F., QIU, S., SHA, B. & LUO, M. 2001. The crystal structure of
881 the influenza matrix protein M1 at neutral pH: M1-M1 protein interfaces can
882 rotate in the oligomeric structures of M1. *Virology*, 289, 34-44.

883 HARRISON, S. C. 2008. Viral membrane fusion. *Nat Struct Mol Biol*, 15, 690-8.

884 HE, J., SUN, E., BUJNY, M. V., KIM, D., DAVIDSON, M. W. & ZHUANG, X. 2013. Dual
885 function of CD81 in influenza virus uncoating and budding. *PLoS Pathog*, 9,
886 e1003701.

887 HELENIUS, A. 2013. Virus entry: what has pH got to do with it? *Nat Cell Biol*, 15, 125.

888 HELENIUS, A., KARTENBECK, J., SIMONS, K. & FRIES, E. 1980. On the entry of
889 Semliki forest virus into BHK-21 cells. *J Cell Biol*, 84, 404-20.

890 HEMLER, M. E. 2005. Tetraspanin functions and associated microdomains. *Nat Rev Mol*
891 *Cell Biol*, 6, 801-11.

892 HOFWEBER, M., HUTTEN, S., BOURGEOIS, B., SPREITZER, E., NIEDNER-BOBLENZ,
893 A., SCHIFFERER, M., RUEPP, M. D., SIMONS, M., NIESSING, D., MADL, T. &
894 DORMANN, D. 2018. Phase Separation of FUS Is Suppressed by Its Nuclear
895 Import Receptor and Arginine Methylation. *Cell*, 173, 706-719 e13.

896 HUANG, S., CHEN, J., CHEN, Q., WANG, H., YAO, Y., CHEN, J. & CHEN, Z. 2013. A
897 second CRM1-dependent nuclear export signal in the influenza A virus NS2
898 protein contributes to the nuclear export of viral ribonucleoproteins. *J Virol*, 87,
899 767-78.

900 HUBBERT, C., GUARDIOLA, A., SHAO, R., KAWAGUCHI, Y., ITO, A., NIXON, A.,
901 YOSHIDA, M., WANG, X. F. & YAO, T. P. 2002. HDAC6 is a microtubule-
902 associated deacetylase. *Nature*, 417, 455-8.

903 HUO, L., LI, D., SUN, X., SHI, X., KARNA, P., YANG, W., LIU, M., QIAO, W., ANEJA, R.
904 & ZHOU, J. 2011. Regulation of Tat acetylation and transactivation activity by the
905 microtubule-associated deacetylase HDAC6. *J Biol Chem*, 286, 9280-6.

906 HUOTARI, J. & HELENIUS, A. 2011. Endosome maturation. *EMBO J*, 30, 3481-500.

907 HUOTARI, J., MEYER-SCHALLER, N., HUBNER, M., STAUFFER, S., KATHEDER, N.,
908 HORVATH, P., MANCINI, R., HELENIUS, A. & PETER, M. 2012. Cullin-3
909 regulates late endosome maturation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 109, 823-8.

910 HUSAIN, M. & CHEUNG, C. Y. 2014. Histone deacetylase 6 inhibits influenza A virus
911 release by downregulating the trafficking of viral components to the plasma
912 membrane via its substrate, acetylated microtubules. *J Virol*, 88, 11229-39.

913 HUSAIN, M. & HARROD, K. S. 2011. Enhanced acetylation of alpha-tubulin in influenza
914 A virus infected epithelial cells. *FEBS Lett*, 585, 128-32.

915 HYMAN, A. A., WEBER, C. A. & JULICHER, F. 2014. Liquid-liquid phase separation in
916 biology. *Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol*, 30, 39-58.

917 INOUE, T. & TSAI, B. 2011. A large and intact viral particle penetrates the endoplasmic
918 reticulum membrane to reach the cytosol. *PLoS Pathog*, 7, e1002037.

919 IWATA, A., RILEY, B. E., JOHNSTON, J. A. & KOPITO, R. R. 2005. HDAC6 and
920 microtubules are required for autophagic degradation of aggregated huntingtin. *J*
921 *Biol Chem*, 280, 40282-92.

922 JAIN, S., WHEELER, J. R., WALTERS, R. W., AGRAWAL, A., BARSIC, A. & PARKER, R.
923 2016. ATPase-Modulated Stress Granules Contain a Diverse Proteome and
924 Substructure. *Cell*, 164, 487-98.

925 JENSEN, T. J., LOO, M. A., PIND, S., WILLIAMS, D. B., GOLDBERG, A. L. & RIORDAN,
926 J. R. 1995. Multiple proteolytic systems, including the proteasome, contribute to
927 CFTR processing. *Cell*, 83, 129-35.

928 JOHNSTON, J. A., WARD, C. L. & KOPITO, R. R. 1998. Aggresomes: a cellular response
929 to misfolded proteins. *J Cell Biol*, 143, 1883-98.

930 JU, X., YAN, Y., LIU, Q., LI, N., SHENG, M., ZHANG, L., LI, X., LIANG, Z., HUANG, F.,
931 LIU, K., ZHAO, Y., ZHANG, Y., ZOU, Z., DU, J., ZHONG, Y., ZHOU, H., YANG,
932 P., LU, H., TIAN, M., LI, D., ZHANG, J., JIN, N. & JIANG, C. 2015. Neuraminidase
933 of Influenza A Virus Binds Lysosome-Associated Membrane Proteins Directly and
934 Induces Lysosome Rupture. *J Virol*, 89, 10347-58.

935 KANASEKI, T., KAWASAKI, K., MURATA, M., IKEUCHI, Y. & OHNISHI, S. 1997.
936 Structural features of membrane fusion between influenza virus and liposome as
937 revealed by quick-freezing electron microscopy. *J Cell Biol*, 137, 1041-56.

938 KAWAGUCHI, Y., KOVACS, J. J., MCLAURIN, A., VANCE, J. M., ITO, A. & YAO, T. P.
939 2003. The deacetylase HDAC6 regulates aggresome formation and cell viability in
940 response to misfolded protein stress. *Cell*, 115, 727-38.

941 KEMLER, I., WHITTAKER, G. & HELENIUS, A. 1994. Nuclear import of microinjected
942 influenza virus ribonucleoproteins. *Virology*, 202, 1028-33.

943 KIELIAN, M. 2014. Mechanisms of Virus Membrane Fusion Proteins. *Annu Rev Virol*, 1,
944 171-89.

945 KOMANDER, D. & RAPE, M. 2012. The ubiquitin code. *Annu Rev Biochem*, 81, 203-29.

946 KONIG, R. & STERTZ, S. 2015. Recent strategies and progress in identifying host factors
947 involved in virus replication. *Curr Opin Microbiol*, 26, 79-88.

948 KONIG, R., STERTZ, S., ZHOU, Y., INOUE, A., HOFFMANN, H. H.,
949 BHATTACHARYYA, S., ALAMARES, J. G., TSCHERNE, D. M., ORTIGOZA, M.
950 B., LIANG, Y., GAO, Q., ANDREWS, S. E., BANDYOPADHYAY, S., DE JESUS, P.,
951 TU, B. P., PACHE, L., SHIH, C., ORTH, A., BONAMY, G., MIRAGLIA, L.,
952 IDEKER, T., GARCIA-SASTRE, A., YOUNG, J. A., PALESE, P., SHAW, M. L. &
953 CHANDA, S. K. 2010. Human host factors required for influenza virus replication.
954 *Nature*, 463, 813-7.

955 KOVACS, J. J., MURPHY, P. J., GAILLARD, S., ZHAO, X., WU, J. T., NICCHITTA, C. V.,
956 YOSHIDA, M., TOFT, D. O., PRATT, W. B. & YAO, T. P. 2005. HDAC6 regulates
957 Hsp90 acetylation and chaperone-dependent activation of glucocorticoid receptor.
958 *Mol Cell*, 18, 601-7.

959 KROSCHWALD, S., MAHARANA, S., MATEJU, D., MALINOVSKA, L., NUSKE, E.,
960 POSER, I., RICHTER, D. & ALBERTI, S. 2015. Promiscuous interactions and
961 protein disaggregases determine the material state of stress-inducible RNP
962 granules. *Elife*, 4, e06807.

963 KRZYZANIAK, M. A., ZUMSTEIN, M. T., GEREZ, J. A., PICOTTI, P. & HELENIUS, A.
964 2013. Host cell entry of respiratory syncytial virus involves macropinocytosis
965 followed by proteolytic activation of the F protein. *PLoS Pathog*, 9, e1003309.

966 KULATHU, Y. & KOMANDER, D. 2012. Atypical ubiquitylation - the unexplored world
967 of polyubiquitin beyond Lys48 and Lys63 linkages. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol*, 13, 508-
968 23.

969 KUSUMI, A. & SAKO, Y. 1996. Cell surface organization by the membrane skeleton. *Curr*
970 *Opin Cell Biol*, 8, 566-74.

971 KWON, S., ZHANG, Y. & MATTHIAS, P. 2007. The deacetylase HDAC6 is a novel
972 critical component of stress granules involved in the stress response. *Genes Dev*,
973 21, 3381-94.

974 LAKADAMYALI, M., RUST, M. J., BABCOCK, H. P. & ZHUANG, X. 2003. Visualizing
975 infection of individual influenza viruses. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 100, 9280-5.

976 LAMB, R. A. & CHOPPIN, P. W. 1983. The gene structure and replication of influenza
977 virus. *Annu Rev Biochem*, 52, 467-506.

978 LARSON, G. P., TRAN, V., YU, S., CAI, Y., HIGGINS, C. A., SMITH, D. M., BAKER, S. F.,
979 RADOSHITZKY, S. R., KUHN, J. H. & MEHLE, A. 2019. EPS8 Facilitates
980 Uncoating of Influenza A Virus. *Cell Rep*, 29, 2175-2183 e4.

981 LE ROUX, L. G. & MOROIANU, J. 2003. Nuclear entry of high-risk human
982 papillomavirus type 16 E6 oncoprotein occurs via several pathways. *J Virol*, 77,
983 2330-7.

984 LEE, B. J., CANSIZOGLU, A. E., SUEL, K. E., LOUIS, T. H., ZHANG, Z. & CHOOK, Y. M.
985 2006. Rules for nuclear localization sequence recognition by karyopherin beta 2.
986 *Cell*, 126, 543-58.

987 LEE, J. Y., KOGA, H., KAWAGUCHI, Y., TANG, W., WONG, E., GAO, Y. S., PANDEY,
988 U. B., KAUSHIK, S., TRESSE, E., LU, J., TAYLOR, J. P., CUERVO, A. M. & YAO,
989 T. P. 2010a. HDAC6 controls autophagosome maturation essential for ubiquitin-
990 selective quality-control autophagy. *EMBO J*, 29, 969-80.

991 LEE, J. Y., NAGANO, Y., TAYLOR, J. P., LIM, K. L. & YAO, T. P. 2010b. Disease-causing
992 mutations in parkin impair mitochondrial ubiquitination, aggregation, and
993 HDAC6-dependent mitophagy. *J Cell Biol*, 189, 671-9.

994 LEE, K. K. 2010. Architecture of a nascent viral fusion pore. *EMBO J*, 29, 1299-311.

995 LI, K., MARKOSYAN, R. M., ZHENG, Y. M., GOLFETTO, O., BUNGART, B., LI, M.,
996 DING, S., HE, Y., LIANG, C., LEE, J. C., GRATTON, E., COHEN, F. S. & LIU, S. L.
997 2013. IFITM proteins restrict viral membrane hemifusion. *PLoS Pathog*, 9,
998 e1003124.

999 LI, S., SIEBEN, C., LUDWIG, K., HOFER, C. T., CHIANTIA, S., HERRMANN, A.,
1000 EGHIAIAN, F. & SCHAAP, I. A. 2014. pH-Controlled two-step uncoating of
1001 influenza virus. *Biophys J*, 106, 1447-56.

1002 LIU, C., PERILLA, J. R., NING, J., LU, M., HOU, G., RAMALHO, R., HIMES, B. A.,
1003 ZHAO, G., BEDWELL, G. J., BYEON, I. J., AHN, J., GRONENBORN, A. M.,
1004 PREVELIGE, P. E., ROUSSO, I., AIKEN, C., POLENOVA, T., SCHULTEN, K. &
1005 ZHANG, P. 2016. Cyclophilin A stabilizes the HIV-1 capsid through a novel non-
1006 canonical binding site. *Nat Commun*, 7, 10714.

1007 LONDRIGAN, S. L., TURVILLE, S. G., TATE, M. D., DENG, Y. M., BROOKS, A. G. &
1008 READING, P. C. 2011. N-linked glycosylation facilitates sialic acid-independent

1009 attachment and entry of influenza A viruses into cells expressing DC-SIGN or L-
1010 SIGN. *J Virol*, 85, 2990-3000.

1011 LOZACH, P. Y., MANCINI, R., BITTO, D., MEIER, R., OESTEREICH, L., OVERBY, A.
1012 K., PETTERSSON, R. F. & HELENIUS, A. 2010. Entry of bunyaviruses into
1013 mammalian cells. *Cell Host Microbe*, 7, 488-99.

1014 MAR, K. B., RINKENBERGER, N. R., BOYS, I. N., EITSON, J. L., MCDUGAL, M. B.,
1015 RICHARDSON, R. B. & SCHOGGINS, J. W. 2018. LY6E mediates an
1016 evolutionarily conserved enhancement of virus infection by targeting a late entry
1017 step. *Nat Commun*, 9, 3603.

1018 MARKS, P. A., MILLER, T. & RICHON, V. M. 2003. Histone deacetylases. *Curr Opin*
1019 *Pharmacol*, 3, 344-51.

1020 MARTIN, K. & HELENIUS, A. 1991. Nuclear transport of influenza virus
1021 ribonucleoproteins: the viral matrix protein (M1) promotes export and inhibits
1022 import. *Cell*, 67, 117-30.

1023 MARTIN-BENITO, J., AREA, E., ORTEGA, J., LLORCA, O., VALPUESTA, J. M.,
1024 CARRASCOSA, J. L. & ORTIN, J. 2001. Three-dimensional reconstruction of a
1025 recombinant influenza virus ribonucleoprotein particle. *EMBO Rep*, 2, 313-7.

1026 MATLIN, K. S., REGGIO, H., HELENIUS, A. & SIMONS, K. 1981. Infectious entry
1027 pathway of influenza virus in a canine kidney cell line. *J Cell Biol*, 91, 601-13.

1028 MATROSOVICH, M. N., MATROSOVICH, T. Y., GRAY, T., ROBERTS, N. A. & KLENK,
1029 H. D. 2004. Neuraminidase is important for the initiation of influenza virus
1030 infection in human airway epithelium. *J Virol*, 78, 12665-7.

1031 MATTHIAS, P., YOSHIDA, M. & KHOCHBIN, S. 2008. HDAC6 a new cellular stress
1032 surveillance factor. *Cell Cycle*, 7, 7-10.

1033 MEYERSON, N. R., ZHOU, L., GUO, Y. R., ZHAO, C., TAO, Y. J., KRUG, R. M. &
1034 SAWYER, S. L. 2017. Nuclear TRIM25 Specifically Targets Influenza Virus
1035 Ribonucleoproteins to Block the Onset of RNA Chain Elongation. *Cell Host*
1036 *Microbe*, 22, 627-638 e7.

1037 MIYAKE, Y., KEUSCH, J., DECAMPE, L., XUAN, H., IKETANI, S., KUTAY, U.,
1038 HELENIUS, A. & YAMAUCHI, Y. 2019a. Influenza A virus uses Transportin 1 for
1039 vRNP Debundling During Cell Entry. *Nat Microbiol*.

1040 MIYAKE, Y., KEUSCH, J. J., DECAMPS, L., HO-XUAN, H., IKETANI, S., GUT, H.,
1041 KUTAY, U., HELENIUS, A. & YAMAUCHI, Y. 2019b. Influenza virus uses
1042 transportin 1 for vRNP debundling during cell entry. *Nat Microbiol*, 4, 578-586.

1043 MIYAKE, Y., KEUSCH, J. J., WANG, L., SAITO, M., HESS, D., WANG, X., MELANCON,
1044 B. J., HELQUIST, P., GUT, H. & MATTHIAS, P. 2016. Structural insights into
1045 HDAC6 tubulin deacetylation and its selective inhibition. *Nat Chem Biol*, 12, 748-
1046 54.

1047 MOELLER, A., KIRCHDOERFER, R. N., POTTER, C. S., CARRAGHER, B. & WILSON, I.
1048 A. 2012. Organization of the influenza virus replication machinery. *Science*, 338,
1049 1631-4.

1050 MORENO-GONZALO, O., MAYOR, F., JR. & SANCHEZ-MADRID, F. 2018. HDAC6 at
1051 Crossroads of Infection and Innate Immunity. *Trends Immunol*, 39, 591-595.

1052 NACHBAGAUER, R. & PALESE, P. 2019. Is a Universal Influenza Virus Vaccine
1053 Possible? *Annu Rev Med*.

1054 NAKIELNY, S., SIOMI, M. C., SIOMI, H., MICHAEL, W. M., POLLARD, V. &
1055 DREYFUSS, G. 1996. Transportin: nuclear transport receptor of a novel nuclear
1056 protein import pathway. *Exp Cell Res*, 229, 261-6.

1057 NANDURI, P., HAO, R., FITZPATRICK, T. & YAO, T. P. 2015. Chaperone-mediated 26S
1058 proteasome remodeling facilitates free K63 ubiquitin chain production and
1059 aggresome clearance. *J Biol Chem*, 290, 9455-64.

1060 NEUMANN, G., HUGHES, M. T. & KAWAOKA, Y. 2000. Influenza A virus NS2 protein
1061 mediates vRNP nuclear export through NES-independent interaction with
1062 hCRM1. *EMBO J*, 19, 6751-8.

1063 NIKOLIC, J., CIVAS, A., LAMA, Z., LAGAUDRIERE-GESBERT, C. & BLONDEL, D.
1064 2016. Rabies Virus Infection Induces the Formation of Stress Granules Closely
1065 Connected to the Viral Factories. *PLoS Pathog*, 12, e1005942.

1066 NODA, T. 2011. Native morphology of influenza virions. *Front Microbiol*, 2, 269.

1067 O'NEILL, R. E., TALON, J. & PALESE, P. 1998. The influenza virus NEP (NS2 protein)
1068 mediates the nuclear export of viral ribonucleoproteins. *EMBO J*, 17, 288-96.

1069 OUYANG, H., ALI, Y. O., RAVICHANDRAN, M., DONG, A., QIU, W., MACKENZIE, F.,
1070 DHE-PAGANON, S., ARROWSMITH, C. H. & ZHAI, R. G. 2012. Protein
1071 aggregates are recruited to aggresome by histone deacetylase 6 via unanchored
1072 ubiquitin C termini. *J Biol Chem*, 287, 2317-27.

1073 PAI, M. T., TZENG, S. R., KOVACS, J. J., KEATON, M. A., LI, S. S., YAO, T. P. & ZHOU,
1074 P. 2007. Solution structure of the Ubp-M BUZ domain, a highly specific protein
1075 module that recognizes the C-terminal tail of free ubiquitin. *J Mol Biol*, 370, 290-
1076 302.

1077 PARSONS, K., NAKATANI, Y. & NGUYEN, M. D. 2015. p600/UBR4 in the central
1078 nervous system. *Cell Mol Life Sci*, 72, 1149-60.

1079 PATERSON, D. & FODOR, E. 2012. Emerging roles for the influenza A virus nuclear
1080 export protein (NEP). *PLoS Pathog*, 8, e1003019.

1081 POHL, M. O., EDINGER, T. O. & STERTZ, S. 2014. Prolidase is required for early
1082 trafficking events during influenza A virus entry. *J Virol*, 88, 11271-83.

1083 POLLARD, V. W., MICHAEL, W. M., NAKIELNY, S., SIOMI, M. C., WANG, F. &
1084 DREYFUSS, G. 1996. A novel receptor-mediated nuclear protein import pathway.
1085 *Cell*, 86, 985-94.

1086 PROTTER, D. S. W. & PARKER, R. 2016. Principles and Properties of Stress Granules.
1087 *Trends Cell Biol*, 26, 668-679.

1088 QIN, C., LI, W., LI, Q., YIN, W., ZHANG, X., ZHANG, Z.-P., ZHANG, X.-E. & CUI, Z.
1089 2019. Real-time dissection of dynamic uncoating of individual influenza viruses.
1090 *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*.

1091 REBANE, A., AAB, A. & STEITZ, J. A. 2004. Transportins 1 and 2 are redundant nuclear
1092 import factors for hnRNP A1 and HuR. *RNA*, 10, 590-9.

1093 ROSE, A. S., BRADLEY, A. R., VALASATAVA, Y., DUARTE, J. M., PRLIC, A. & ROSE, P.
1094 W. 2018. NGL viewer: web-based molecular graphics for large complexes.
1095 *Bioinformatics*, 34, 3755-3758.

1096 ROSSMAN, J. S. & LAMB, R. A. 2011. Influenza virus assembly and budding. *Virology*,
1097 411, 229-36.

1098 ROWSE, M., QIU, S., TSAO, J., XIAN, T., KHAWAJA, S., YAMAUCHI, Y., YANG, Z.,
1099 WANG, G. & LUO, M. 2015. Characterization of potent fusion inhibitors of
1100 influenza virus. *PLoS One*, 10, e0122536.

1101 RUDNICKA, A. & YAMAUCHI, Y. 2016. Ubiquitin in Influenza Virus Entry and Innate
1102 Immunity. *Viruses*, 8.

1103 RUST, M. J., LAKADAMYALI, M., ZHANG, F. & ZHUANG, X. 2004. Assembly of
1104 endocytic machinery around individual influenza viruses during viral entry. *Nat*
1105 *Struct Mol Biol*, 11, 567-73.

1106 SAITO, M., HESS, D., EGLINGER, J., FRITSCH, A. W., KREYSING, M., WEINERT, B. T.,
1107 CHOUDHARY, C. & MATTHIAS, P. 2019. Acetylation of intrinsically disordered
1108 regions regulates phase separation. *Nat Chem Biol*, 15, 51-61.

1109 SAKAI, T., OHUCHI, M., IMAI, M., MIZUNO, T., KAWASAKI, K., KURODA, K. &
1110 YAMASHINA, S. 2006. Dual wavelength imaging allows analysis of membrane
1111 fusion of influenza virus inside cells. *J Virol*, 80, 2013-8.

1112 SAYAH, D. M. & LUBAN, J. 2004. Selection for loss of Ref1 activity in human cells
1113 releases human immunodeficiency virus type 1 from cyclophilin A dependence
1114 during infection. *J Virol*, 78, 12066-70.

1115 SCHELHAAS, M., MALMSTROM, J., PELKMANS, L., HAUGSTETTER, J., ELLGAARD,
1116 L., GRUNEWALD, K. & HELENIUS, A. 2007. Simian Virus 40 depends on ER
1117 protein folding and quality control factors for entry into host cells. *Cell*, 131, 516-
1118 29.

1119 SCHMIDT, F. I., BLECK, C. K., REH, L., NOVY, K., WOLLSCHIED, B., HELENIUS, A.,
1120 STAHLBERG, H. & MERCER, J. 2013a. Vaccinia virus entry is followed by core
1121 activation and proteasome-mediated release of the immunomodulatory effector
1122 VH1 from lateral bodies. *Cell Rep*, 4, 464-76.

1123 SCHMIDT, F. I., KUHN, P., ROBINSON, T., MERCER, J. & DITTRICH, P. S. 2013b.
1124 Single-virus fusion experiments reveal proton influx into vaccinia virions and
1125 hemifusion lag times. *Biophys J*, 105, 420-31.

1126 SETO, E. & YOSHIDA, M. 2014. Erasers of histone acetylation: the histone deacetylase
1127 enzymes. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol*, 6, a018713.

1128 SHAMSHER, M. K., PLOSKI, J. & RADU, A. 2002. Karyopherin beta 2B participates in
1129 mRNA export from the nucleus. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 99, 14195-9.

1130 SIEBEN, C., KAPPEL, C., ZHU, R., WOZNIAK, A., RANKL, C., HINTERDORFER, P.,
1131 GRUBMULLER, H. & HERRMANN, A. 2012. Influenza virus binds its host cell
1132 using multiple dynamic interactions. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 109, 13626-31.

1133 SIOMI, M. C., EDER, P. S., KATAOKA, N., WAN, L., LIU, Q. & DREYFUSS, G. 1997.
1134 Transportin-mediated nuclear import of heterogeneous nuclear RNP proteins. *J*
1135 *Cell Biol*, 138, 1181-92.

1136 SKEHEL, J. J. & WILEY, D. C. 2000. Receptor binding and membrane fusion in virus
1137 entry: the influenza hemagglutinin. *Annu Rev Biochem*, 69, 531-69.

1138 SMITH, S., WESTON, S., KELLAM, P. & MARSH, M. 2014. IFITM proteins-cellular
1139 inhibitors of viral entry. *Curr Opin Virol*, 4, 71-7.

1140 SONIAT, M. & CHOOK, Y. M. 2016. Karyopherin-beta2 Recognition of a PY-NLS
1141 Variant that Lacks the Proline-Tyrosine Motif. *Structure*, 24, 1802-1809.

1142 STARING, J., RAABEN, M. & BRUMMELKAMP, T. R. 2018. Viral escape from
1143 endosomes and host detection at a glance. *J Cell Sci*, 131.

1144 STAUFFER, S., FENG, Y., NEBIOGLU, F., HEILIG, R., PICOTTI, P. & HELENIUS, A.
1145 2014. Stepwise priming by acidic pH and a high K⁺ concentration is required for
1146 efficient uncoating of influenza A virus cores after penetration. *J Virol*, 88, 13029-
1147 46.

1148 SU, W. C., CHEN, Y. C., TSENG, C. H., HSU, P. W., TUNG, K. F., JENG, K. S. & LAI, M.
1149 M. 2013. Pooled RNAi screen identifies ubiquitin ligase Itch as crucial for
1150 influenza A virus release from the endosome during virus entry. *Proc Natl Acad
1151 Sci USA*, 110, 17516-21.

1152 SUEL, K. E., GU, H. & CHOOK, Y. M. 2008. Modular organization and combinatorial
1153 energetics of proline-tyrosine nuclear localization signals. *PLoS Biol*, 6, e137.

1154 TASAKI, T., KIM, S. T., ZAKRZEWSKA, A., LEE, B. E., KANG, M. J., YOO, Y. D., CHA-
1155 MOLSTAD, H. J., HWANG, J., SOUNG, N. K., SUNG, K. S., KIM, S. H., NGUYEN,
1156 M. D., SUN, M., YI, E. C., KIM, B. Y. & KWON, Y. T. 2013. UBR box N-recogin-
1157 4 (UBR4), an N-recogin of the N-end rule pathway, and its role in yolk sac
1158 vascular development and autophagy. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*, 110, 3800-5.

1159 TOURRIERE, H., CHEBLI, K., ZEKRI, L., COURSELAUD, B., BLANCHARD, J. M.,
1160 BERTRAND, E. & TAZI, J. 2003. The RasGAP-associated endoribonuclease G3BP
1161 assembles stress granules. *J Cell Biol*, 160, 823-31.

1162 TRAN, P. B. & MILLER, R. J. 1999. Aggregates in neurodegenerative disease: crowds and
1163 power? *Trends Neurosci*, 22, 194-7.

1164 TRIPATHI, S., POHL, M. O., ZHOU, Y., RODRIGUEZ-FRANSEN, A., WANG, G.,
1165 STEIN, D. A., MOULTON, H. M., DEJESUS, P., CHE, J., MULDER, L. C.,
1166 YANGUEZ, E., ANDENMATTEN, D., PACHE, L., MANICASSAMY, B.,
1167 ALBRECHT, R. A., GONZALEZ, M. G., NGUYEN, Q., BRASS, A., ELLEDGE, S.,
1168 WHITE, M., SHAPIRA, S., HACOEN, N., KARLAS, A., MEYER, T. F., SHALES,
1169 M., GATORANO, A., JOHNSON, J. R., JANG, G., JOHNSON, T., VERSCHUEREN,
1170 E., SANDERS, D., KROGAN, N., SHAW, M., KONIG, R., STERTZ, S., GARCIA-
1171 SASTRE, A. & CHANDA, S. K. 2015. Meta- and Orthogonal Integration of
1172 Influenza "OMICS" Data Defines a Role for UBR4 in Virus Budding. *Cell Host
1173 Microbe*, 18, 723-35.

1174 TSCHERNE, D. M., MANICASSAMY, B. & GARCIA-SASTRE, A. 2010. An enzymatic
1175 virus-like particle assay for sensitive detection of virus entry. *J Virol Methods*, 163,
1176 336-43.

1177 TWYFFELS, L., GUEYDAN, C. & KRUYSS, V. 2014. Transportin-1 and Transportin-2:
1178 protein nuclear import and beyond. *FEBS Lett*, 588, 1857-68.

1179 TYEDMERS, J., MOGK, A. & BUKAU, B. 2010. Cellular strategies for controlling protein
1180 aggregation. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol*, 11, 777-88.

1181 VALENZUELA-FERNANDEZ, A., CABRERO, J. R., SERRADOR, J. M. & SANCHEZ-
1182 MADRID, F. 2008. HDAC6: a key regulator of cytoskeleton, cell migration and
1183 cell-cell interactions. *Trends Cell Biol*, 18, 291-7.

1184 VERDEL, A., CURTET, S., BROCARD, M. P., ROUSSEAU, S., LEMERCIER, C.,
1185 YOSHIDA, M. & KHOCHBIN, S. 2000. Active maintenance of mHDA2/mHDAC6
1186 histone-deacetylase in the cytoplasm. *Curr Biol*, 10, 747-9.
1187 WARD, C. L., OMURA, S. & KOPITO, R. R. 1995. Degradation of CFTR by the
1188 ubiquitin-proteasome pathway. *Cell*, 83, 121-7.
1189 WESSELS, L., ELTING, M. W., SCIMECA, D. & WENINGER, K. 2007. Rapid membrane
1190 fusion of individual virus particles with supported lipid bilayers. *Biophys J*, 93,
1191 526-38.
1192 WHITE, J., MATLIN, K. & HELENIUS, A. 1981. Cell fusion by Semliki Forest, influenza,
1193 and vesicular stomatitis viruses. *J Cell Biol*, 89, 674-9.
1194 WHITTAKER, G., BUI, M. & HELENIUS, A. 1996. Nuclear trafficking of influenza virus
1195 ribonucleoproteins in heterokaryons. *J Virol*, 70, 2743-56.
1196 WU, W. W., SUN, Y. H. & PANTE, N. 2007. Nuclear import of influenza A viral
1197 ribonucleoprotein complexes is mediated by two nuclear localization sequences on
1198 viral nucleoprotein. *Virol J*, 4, 49.
1199 YAMAUCHI, Y., BOUKARI, H., BANERJEE, I., SBALZARINI, I. F., HORVATH, P. &
1200 HELENIUS, A. 2011. Histone deacetylase 8 is required for centrosome cohesion
1201 and influenza A virus entry. *PLoS pathogens*, 7, e1002316.
1202 YAMAUCHI, Y. & GREBER, U. F. 2016. Principles of Virus Uncoating: Cues and the
1203 Snooker Ball. *Traffic*, 17, 569-92.
1204 YAMAUCHI, Y. & HELENIUS, A. 2013. Virus entry at a glance. *J Cell Sci*, 126, 1289-95.
1205 YANG, X. J. & SETO, E. 2008. The Rpd3/Hda1 family of lysine deacetylases: from bacteria
1206 and yeast to mice and men. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol*, 9, 206-18.
1207 YANGUEZ, E., HUNZIKER, A., DOBAY, M. P., YILDIZ, S., SCHADING, S., ELSHINA,
1208 E., KARAKUS, U., GEHRIG, P., GROSSMANN, J., DIJKMAN, R., SCHMOLKE, M.
1209 & STERTZ, S. 2018. Phosphoproteomic-based kinase profiling early in influenza
1210 virus infection identifies GRK2 as antiviral drug target. *Nat Commun*, 9, 3679.
1211 YOSHIKAWA, T., ALI, R., JIOU, J., FUNG, H. Y. J., BURKE, K. A., KIM, S. J., LIN, Y.,
1212 PEEPLES, W. B., SALTZBERG, D., SONIAT, M., BAUMHARDT, J. M.,
1213 OLDENBOURG, R., SALI, A., FAWZI, N. L., ROSEN, M. K. & CHOOK, Y. M.
1214 2018. Nuclear Import Receptor Inhibits Phase Separation of FUS through Binding
1215 to Multiple Sites. *Cell*, 173, 693-705 e22.
1216 ZAITSEVA, E., YANG, S. T., MELIKOV, K., POURMAL, S. & CHERNOMORDIK, L. V.
1217 2010. Dengue virus ensures its fusion in late endosomes using compartment-
1218 specific lipids. *PLoS Pathog*, 6, e1001131.
1219 ZHANG, K., WANG, Z., LIU, X., YIN, C., BASIT, Z., XIA, B. & LIU, W. 2012. Dissection
1220 of influenza A virus M1 protein: pH-dependent oligomerization of N-terminal
1221 domain and dimerization of C-terminal domain. *PLoS One*, 7, e37786.
1222 ZHANG, L., OGDEN, A., ANEJA, R. & ZHOU, J. 2016. Diverse roles of HDAC6 in viral
1223 infection: Implications for antiviral therapy. *Pharmacol Ther*, 164, 120-5.
1224 ZHANG, X., YUAN, Z., ZHANG, Y., YONG, S., SALAS-BURGOS, A., KOOMEN, J.,
1225 OLASHAW, N., PARSONS, J. T., YANG, X. J., DENT, S. R., YAO, T. P., LANE, W.
1226 S. & SETO, E. 2007. HDAC6 modulates cell motility by altering the acetylation
1227 level of cortactin. *Mol Cell*, 27, 197-213.

1228 ZHANG, Y., GILQUIN, B., KHOCHBIN, S. & MATTHIAS, P. 2006. Two catalytic
1229 domains are required for protein deacetylation. *J Biol Chem*, 281, 2401-4.
1230 ZHANG, Y., KWON, S., YAMAGUCHI, T., CUBIZOLLES, F., ROUSSEAUX, S.,
1231 KNEISSEL, M., CAO, C., LI, N., CHENG, H. L., CHUA, K., LOMBARD, D.,
1232 MIZERACKI, A., MATTHIAS, G., ALT, F. W., KHOCHBIN, S. & MATTHIAS, P.
1233 2008. Mice lacking histone deacetylase 6 have hyperacetylated tubulin but are
1234 viable and develop normally. *Mol Cell Biol*, 28, 1688-701.
1235 ZHENG, K., JIANG, Y., HE, Z., KITAZATO, K. & WANG, Y. 2017. Cellular defence or
1236 viral assist: the dilemma of HDAC6. *J Gen Virol*, 98, 322-337.
1237 ZIMMERBERG, J., BLUMENTHAL, R., SARKAR, D. P., CURRAN, M. & MORRIS, S. J.
1238 1994. Restricted movement of lipid and aqueous dyes through pores formed by
1239 influenza hemagglutinin during cell fusion. *J Cell Biol*, 127, 1885-94.
1240

1241

1242

1243

1244

1245

1246

1247

1248

1249

1250

1251

1252

1253

1254

1255

1256

1257

1258

1259

1260 **Figure legends**

1261

1262 **Figure 1**

1263 The influenza A virus life cycle. After virion binding to cell surface sialic-acid containing
1264 receptors the particle is endocytosed into vesicles. As the endosome matures, virions undergo
1265 priming by acidic pH followed by viral fusion with the late endosomal membrane, M1 uncoating,
1266 and vRNP debundling. The vRNPs are nuclear imported by importin α/β after which viral
1267 replication takes place inside the nucleus. After replication, progeny vRNPs are trafficked to the
1268 plasma membrane in a Rab11- and endoplasmic reticulum-dependent manner as the vRNPs
1269 separate into membraneless organelles and eight vRNPs are bundled. Budding takes place from
1270 lipid rafts into the extracellular space. Note that M1 and vRNP uncoating can take place on the
1271 cytosolic surface of LEs or in their vicinity. (Goodsell et al., 2019). Three-dimensional structure
1272 data: M1 (PDB ID: 1EA3); HA (PDB ID: 2IBX); NA (PDB ID: 6CRD); M2 (PDB ID: 3BKD);
1273 Ubiquitin (PDB ID: 1UBQ).

1274

1275 **Figure 2**

1276 Mechanistic model of HDAC6-mediated IAV M1 uncoating. After endocytosis, the IAV particle is
1277 trafficked towards the nucleus. As endosomes mature, their internal pH ~~reduces~~ becomes acidic,
1278 ~~and~~ triggering HA-mediated viral fusion with the limiting membrane of the late endosome. This
1279 leads to fusion pore formation, and the viral core consisting of M1 and vRNPs gains access to the
1280 cytoplasm. The virally packaged unanchored ubiquitin is exposed to the cytosolic surface of the
1281 endosomes, acting as bait to recruit the HDAC6 protein by its ZnF-UBP which activates

1282 aggresome processing, and the dynein and myosin II binding capacity of HDAC6. The IAV M1
1283 also binds to the N-terminus of HDAC6, resulting in the linking of M1 to microtubule motors and
1284 [the](#) actomyosin network. The shearing force generated by the molecular motors eventually leads
1285 to the dismantling of the viral core and release/exposure of the vRNPs to the cytoplasm after
1286 which they are further debundled by Karyopherin- β 2 (not shown) (Banerjee et al., 2014, Miyake
1287 et al., 2019a). Debundling is then followed by nuclear import of the vRNPs into the nucleus.
1288 MTOC, microtubule organising centre. [The figure was adopted from \(Banerjee et al., 2014\)](#)[MCK40](#).
1289

1290 **Figure 3**

1291 Different classes of histone deacetylases (HDACs) and their domain composition. HDACs family
1292 contains 18 isoforms, which can be categorized into four classes: class I (HDACs 1, 2, 3, and 8),
1293 class II (HDACs 4, 5, 6, 7, 9 and 10) and class IV (HDAC11) HDACs are Zn²⁺ dependent
1294 metalloproteases, and are mechanistically distinct from [the](#) NAD⁺ dependent class III HDACs
1295 [called SIRT \(\(Sirtuins\) 1–7\)\(not shown\)](#). MEF, myocyte-specific enhancer factor 2A; SE14, Ser-
1296 Glu-containing tetradecapeptide repeats. Modified from (Ellmeier and Seiser, 2018).
1297

1298 **Figure 4**

1299 Domains of HDAC6 and their major functions. HDAC6 has tandem catalytic domains (CD1, CD2)
1300 with the capacity to deacetylate tubulin and the presence of a zinc finger domain [with-that has](#)
1301 [homology to ubiquitin-specific proteases \(ZnF-UBP\)](#),[-which and](#) -binds unanchored ubiquitin.
1302 Binding to ubiquitin occurs by recognition of the C-terminal diglycine motif in unattached chains
1303 or monoubiquitin. DDX3X, DEAD box RNA helicase 3, X-linked. Three-dimensional structure
1304 data: HDAC6 (PDB ID: 5G0J).
1305

1306 **Figure 5**

1307 How HDAC6 reacts to cellular stress and virus entry. ([Top panel](#)) Cellular stress: misfolded
1308 protein aggregates are poly-ubiquitinated, after which they are deubiquitinated by DUBs (not
1309 shown), generating unanchored ubiquitin chains. The C-terminal-free ubiquitin is recognised by
1310 HDAC6 ZnF-UBP and activates HDAC6 binding to dynein. The protein aggregate undergoes
1311 retrograde transport on microtubules towards the MTOC, generating an aggresome. ([Bottom](#)
1312 [panel](#)) Virus entry: IAV packages unanchored ubiquitin chains that are exposed to the cytosol
1313 after low pH-mediated viral fusion at LEs. HDAC6 binds both [to](#) the unanchored chains and to
1314 M1, forming an M1-HDAC6-polyubiquitin chain complex. HDAC6 activation and binding to
1315 dynein and myosin II generates the shearing force needed to uncoat the M1 shell.

1316

1317 **Figure 6**

1318 A rendered [structured illumination microscopy \(SIM\)](#) [\[MCK41\]](#) image of individual IAV X31
1319 particles stained [against-for](#) HA (red) and unanchored ubiquitin (green). Scale bar; 100 nm.

1320

1321 **Figure 7**

1322 Domain composition of [k](#)Kap β 2/TNPO1. Kap β 2 is a superhelical stacking of 20 HEAT repeats
1323 (H1-H20). The RanGTP-binding domain locates at the N-terminal HEAT repeats 1-7. The H8
1324 loop (residues 312-374) is crucial for substrate dissociation in the presence of Ran. HEAT repeats
1325 9-20 comprise the substrate binding sites (adapted from (Lee et al., 2006, Twyffels et al.,
1326 2014))(Yoshizawa et al., 2018, Miyake et al., 2019a, Fernandez et al., 2019, Saito et al., 2019,
1327 Hofweber et al., 2018). Three-dimensional structure data: [k](#)Kap β 2 (PDB ID: 5YVG).

1328

1329 **Figure 8**

1330 Sequence alignment of known PY-NLSs with the conserved IAV M1 N-terminal sequence and
1331 the HIV-1 CA. Sequences for epitopes 1 (a hydrophobic patch, containing glycine (highlighted in
1332 light pink), 2 (a basic patch) and 3 (PY) were adapted from (Lee et al., 2006, Soniat and Chook,
1333 2016). FUS, fused in sarcoma. Adapted from (Fernandez et al., 2019, Miyake et al., 2019b)

1334

1335 **Figure 9**

1336 HDAC6 and ~~k~~Kap β 2 are at the interface of cellular condensates and involved in regulation of
1337 stress granules, protein aggregates and liquid-liquid phase separation (LLPS). Cellular condensates:
1338 intrinsically disordered regions (IDRs) are acetylated upon cellular stress, and acetylated lysines
1339 are subsequently deacetylated by HDAC6. Positively charged lysine residues in the IDR promotes
1340 LLPS and allows other IDR-containing proteins as interaction partners of IDR to engage in the
1341 formation of large mature SGs (Saito et al., 2019). Kap β 2 can bind to PY-NLSs in disordered
1342 regions of condensates and chaperone their disaggregation (Yoshizawa et al., 2018, Hofweber et
1343 al., 2018). Aggresomes: HDAC6 recognizes unanchored ubiquitin chains generated from
1344 deubiquitination, such as by ataxin-3, of polyubiquitinated misfolded proteins, which binds to
1345 HDAC6 and activates its interaction with the dynein motor. The misfolded proteins undergo
1346 retrograde traffic on microtubules to form aggresomes.

1347

1348 **Figure 10**_[MCK42]

1349 Model of stepwise IAV uncoating by HDAC6 and ~~k~~Kap β 2. (1)- Attachment to sialic acids on
1350 receptor proteins on the cell surface triggers (2) virus uptake by clathrin-mediated endocytosis
1351 (top) or macropinocytosis (bottom). (3) Endosome maturation, acidification and ~~viral core~~-priming
1352 in endosomes via M2 induces conformational changes in the viral core. (4) Viral fusion at low pH

1353 exposes ubiquitin chains to the cytosol recruiting HDAC6. (5) HDAC6 binding to ubiquitin chains
1354 HDAC6 is recruited to the fusion pore, binds the ubiquitin chain thereby activating
1355 dynein and myosin II interaction with HDAC6 (red arrows). ~~This generates~~ a shearing force
1356 that ~~breaks apart the M1 shell~~ uncoats the M1 shell and vRNP bundle release. Note that M1
1357 uncoating and vRNP bundle release/debundling can take place on the LE cytosolic surface or in
1358 the cytoplasm. In this scheme, vRNP release and debundling is shown in the cytoplasm for clarity
1359 of representation. (6) Kap β 2 binds to PY-NLS on M1 (colored in red) and disaggregates the
1360 vRNP-M1 bundle, leading to ~~the debundling of~~ vRNP debundlings into individual segments. (7)
1361 vRNPs are nuclear imported by importin α after which viral replication takes place.

1362
1363

1364

1365 **Figure 11**

1366 PY-NLS is a viral cue that triggers IAV and HIV-1 uncoating. M1 dimers and CA hexamers are
1367 the smallest unit of the viral shell. Recognition by Kap β 2 binds PY-NLSs via is dependent on the
1368 hydrophobic side chains of substrate residues adjacent of G18 (IAV M1) or G89 (HIV-1
1369 CA)[MCK43] on the capsid surface and promotes their disaggregation. The cue for Low pH is the
1370 cue for PY-NLS exposure of IAV M1 is low pH exposure in endosomes, whereas the cue for HIV-
1371 1 is unclear (Rose et al., 2018, Fernandez et al., 2019, Miyake et al., 2019b). Three-dimensional
1372 structure data: M1 (PDB ID: 1EA3), CA (3J3Q), CA (3GV2), kap β 2 (5YVG).